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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA
CASE NO.: 10-20206-CIV-MARTINEZ

LORRENE DA SILVA FERREIRA and ARLETE DA
SILVA FERREIRA, individually and on
behalf of all others similarly situated,

Plaintiffs,

VS,

EFG CAPITAL INTERNATIONAL CORP., and EFG
BANK f/k/a EFG PRIVATE BANK SA,

Defendants.

Monday, October 18, 2010
201 South Biscayne Boulevard
Miami, Florida
9:53 am. - 3:21 p.m.
CONTINUED VIDEOTAPE DEPOSITION OF
VICTOR MANUEL ECHEVARRIA
VOLUME II
PAGES 166 -- 345
Taken before Patricia C. Weiner, Registered
Professional Reporter, Certificd Realtime Reporter,
Registered Merit Reporter, Florida Professional Reporter
and Notary Public in and for the State of Florida at

Large, pursuant to Notice of Taking Deposition filed in

the above cause.
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167 | 169
1 APPEARANCES: 1
2 Onbehalf of the Plaintiff: 2 PLAINTIFFS EXHIBITS
LEVINE, KELLOGG, LEHMAN, SCHNEIDER & GROSSMAN, LLP 3 NUMBER DESCRIPTION PAGE
3 34ih Floor, Miami Center 4
1 i:.' S‘."‘:.:' B;scam sBloulevard S Exhibit? Dusiness [ntroducing and Revenue 173
iamni, Florida . )
(305) 4038738 . Agreement, EFG Capilal 1944-1946
5 Wg%ﬁc&&. KELLOGO, ESQ. and : Exhibit 8 ' Novalion Agreement Relating Blo 183
6 jk@iMlaw.com Re\?nue Agreement Between EFG Bank & EFG
JASON KELLOGG, ESQ . Capital
4
8 Exhibit 9 Bugsiness Introducing and Revenue 185
9 Onbehalf of the DefendanVEFG Bank Bk/a BFG Privale 9 _ Agreement
Bank SA° 10 Exhibit 10 Amendment Relaling to Business 187
10 HOLLAND & KNIGHT, LLP Introducing and Revenue Agreement and
Suite 3000 11 Subsequent Novalion Agreement Between EFG
11 701 Brickell Avenus Bank, EFG Intemmational, and EFG Capital
Miamni, Florida 33131 12 International
12 (305)374-8300 13 Exhibit L1 Operational Advice and Support 138
michacl. garcia@hldaw.com Services Agreement
13 BY: MICHAEL B GARCIA, ESQ. 14
} é Exhibit 13 Fairfield Sentry Limited - 194
. 15 Semi-Annual Update
16 g;‘rgﬁh"‘““m Defendan/EF G Capital lnternational 16  Exhibic]2  FPairfield Sentry Limited Monthly 196
GREENBERG TRAURIG 17 Strategy Review, June 2008
17 i
T Cos e Diive Exhibil 4 Fax Cover Sheel Reference: Fairfield |
18 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 1n __ Seatry Limited
(361)650-7903 19  Exhibit 15 February 21, 2001, Letter Re: Leiter 15
19 coatesj@gtlaw.com of Understanding
BY: JOSEPH C. COATES, IIl, ESQ. 20
20 Exhibit 16 Fairfield Greenwich Group, November 216
21 ALSOPRESENT: ALPIANDRO MONTALVO, VIDEOGRAPHER 21 1, 2604, Letter
22 22 Exhibit 17 May 18, 2006, Letter 218
23 23
24 24
25 25
168 170
T 1
2 PLAINTIFFS EXHIBITS
2 INDEX 3 NUMBER DESCRIPTION  PAGE
3 WITNESS: 4
4 VICTOR MANUEL ECHEVARRIA 5 . . i 3
X L Exhibit 18  Fairfield Greenwich Group Altemative 4
5 Direct Examination By Mr. Lawrence Kellogg 173 ¢ Invesiment Funds, January 2006
6 . 7 Exhibit 19  November 29, 2007, Letterof 228
7 Witness Signature Page 340 8 Understanding
8 Cerilicate of Qath For Wilness 341 Exhibit 20  June 12, 2008, Letter 231
9  Reporter's Deposition Certificat 342 3 ) . .
PO eposition Certificate Esxhibit 21 EFG Capital Intemational, Due 242
10 FEmata Sheet 343 10 Difigence Memorandum
11 Read Letter 344 11. Exhibit22 ° Notice to Clienis . 266
. : 12  Fxhibit23  Fax Cover Sheet Junie 26, 2000, 1o 273
12 Attorney Read Letter 345 Victor Echevarria from Jeffrey Tucker
13 13
14 Exhibit24  Nofes of Meelings with Jeffrey Tucker 9
14 of Fairfield Greenwich and Documnent
15 Review on July 11 & 12, 2000, Re:
16 15 Fairfield Sentry Limited (The Fund)
17 16 Exhibit25 Fax Cover Sheet May 30, 1997 283
17 Exhibit26  August2l, 1998, Leller 295
18 18  Exhibit27  Hedge Fund Compliance Checklist 298
19 19  Exhibit 28 Miguel M. Yannuzzi Email to Lomene,303
December 17, 2008
29 20
21 Exhibit29  fanvary 15, 2009, Dear Customer 307
21 Letter '
22 22 Exhibit30  Miguel M. Yannuzzi Email to Lomene, 08
23 June 1, 2009
23
24 24
25 25

800-726-7007

Veritext Florida Reporting Co.

305-376-8800
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171 173
1 1 Thereupon:
2 PLAINTIFFS EXHIBITS 2 VICTOR MANUEL ECHEVARRIA
3 NUMBER DESCRIPTION PAGE 3 was called as a wilness by the Plaintiff and, having
; 4 been first duly swom, testified as follows:
o . . . 5 CONTINUED DIRECT EXAMINATION
] Extibit 3]1unc 2]9\’425(;103; M. Yannuzzi Email to Lorrene, 10 6 BY MR LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
7 Exhibit32  August3, 2009, Notice to Customers 314| 7 Q- Good momning.
Regarding Tairfield Sentry Limited 8 A. Good moming.
8 . 9 Q. Last week, when we were discussing these
Exhibit 33 Miguel M. Yannuzzi Email to Lotrene, 15} 10  matters, you had mentioned that EFG Capital
¢ October 22, 2009 11 International and some or more EFG affiliated companied
10 12 had entered info revenue sharing agreements. Do you -
i ; 13 recall that testimony generally?
13 14 A. Irecall discussing that EFG Capital had
14 15 entered into revenue sharing agreements with one or two
15 16 entities. Correct.
16 17 Q. Okay. And since then we have been produced
17 18 some materials. I'd like to go over them briefly with
18 19 you
19 20 (Thereupon, the referred-to document was
;S 21  marked by the court reporter for Identificalion as
- 22 Plaintiff's Exhibit 7.)
23 23 BY IVIR LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
24 24 Q. T've marked as Exhibil 7 a Business
25 25 Inlreducing and Revenue Agreement, dated January 1,
172 174
1 PROCEEDINGS 1 2002, between EFG Private Bank SA and EFG Capital
2 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: All right. Good moming. 2 International Corp. It's Bates Numbers 1944 through
3 We are now on the video record to continue with the 3 1946, EFG Capital, that is.
4 videotape deposition of Victor Manuei Echevarria in 4 To your knowledge, is this a true copy of an
5 the matler of the case Lormrene Da Silva Ferreira 5 agreemewt between the private bank -- EFG Private Bank]
6 and Arlete Da Silva Ferreira versus EFG Capital. 6 and EFG Capital International Corp.?
7 Today is Monday, Oclober the 18th, 2010, and 7 A. Seems (hat way. -
B the time is 9:53. 8 Q. Does your signature appear?
9 Counsel please introduce themselves for the 9 A. No, if does not.
10 tecord and after this, the court Teporter swear in 10 Q. Does Mr. Howell's signature appear on behalf
11 the witness. 11  of EFG Private Bank?
12 MR LAWRENCE KELLOGG: LarryKellopgand Jasog 12 A, Yes, it dogs.
13 Kellogg on behalf of the plaintiffs. 13 Q. IseeMr. Campano appears to have signed, is
14 MR. COATES: Joe Coates of Greenberg Traurig 14 thatright, as president --
15 on behalfof the defendant, EFG Capital. 15 A. That's correct.
16 MR. GARCTA: Michael Garcia with Holland & 16 Q. -- of EFG Capital International?
17 Knight on behalf of EFG Bank. 17 Who is the other signature, if you know?
18 THE COURT REPORTER: Would you raise your 18 A. EFG Capital, you mean?
19 right hand, please. 19 Q. Yes.
20 Do you solemnly swear or affivm that the 20 A. Juan Massens.
21 testimony you're about to give in this case shall 21 Q. To your knowledge, was this the first written
22 be the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the 22 agreement between EFG Private Bank and EFG Capital
23 truth? 23 International regarding the sharing of revenue between
24 THE WITNESS: [do. 24 those two companies?
25 25 A, T don't recall.
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175 177
1 Q. And docs this refresh your memory as to the 1 A. 1was not involved in the preparation of this
2 fact that every time EFG Capilal introduced a customer 2 agreement.
3 to EFG Private Bank it would receive a 30 percent fee -- 3 Q. So you didn't negotiate the terms ofit?
4 30 percent of the revenue-generated fee? 4 A. Twasn't involved in the preparation of this
5 A, I'msormry -- 5 agreement.
6 MR. COATES: Object to the form of the 6 Q. Did you - did you negofiate the business
7 queslion. 7 terms?
g MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: Let me rephrase it. 8 A. No.
9 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 9 Q. Was -- did EFG Bank -- EFG Private Bank pay
10 Q. Does this relresh your memory that every lime 10 any other fees as defined in Seclion 2A to EFG Capital
11  EFG Capital would introduce a client to EFG Private Bank} 11 International?
12 it would receive 30 percent of the revenue generated 12 A. ldon't know.
13 from lhat referral? 13 Q. [IfaEFG Capital customer who subscribed to
14 MR. COATES: Object to the form of the 14  the Fairfield Sentry fund was referred to EFG Private
15 question. . 15 Bank, would revenue be shared pursuant to this agreement
16 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 16 for that customer? :
17 Q. You can answer it, 17 A. Once he indicates the areas that would count
18 A. The agreement indicates that there is a 18 towards revenue, and cuslody fees are in here. So if we
19 compensation for 30 pereent of the net revenues, [ 19 referred a client for custody services, a custody fee
20 believe, for clients introduced by EFG Capital to EFG 20 charged by EFG Bank would be included.
21 Bank 21 Q. You mentioned last week, and we haven't seen
22 Q. And Section 2 of this agreement refers to a 22 the agreement yet, but that there is a revenue sharing
23 category of compensation wherein EFG Private Bank was | 23 agreement of some sort between EFG Capital and EFG Asse
24 going to pay EFG Capital a quarterly [ee to recognize 24 Management. Is that right?
25  additional revenues received from EFG Capital's 25 A. 1believe there is, yes.
176 178
1 introduced customers. Do you see that? 1 Q. If EFG Asset Management refers a customer to
2 A, Yes. 2 EFG Bank, is the compensation calculated pursuant to
3 (. What is that other fee meant to capture? 3 this agreement, Exhibit 77
4 A. Ican't recall in that I don't know what other 4 A. I'mnot aware of a -- of an agreement between
5 fees were envisioned. 5 EFG Capital Asset Management and EFG Bank of this
6 Q. It says, "The other fee is intended to promote 6 nature.
7 activities that benefit EFG Bank." Do you see that? 1 Q. Soif-- did EFG Assct refer -- ever refer
8 A. Which section is that? 8 customers to EFG Capital or was it lhe other way around
9 Q. That's next -- 9 primanly?
10 A. 2A or2B? 10 MR. COATES: I'm going to object to the
11 Q. 2A,B--2A, second sentence. 11 question. you can rephrase that.
12 A. Yes, [ seethat. 12 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
13 Q. What -- what activiiies were to be promoted to 13 Q. What 'm trying to find out is, if EFG Asset
14 benefit EFG Bank? 14 Management referred 4 customer to EFG Bank, would EF()
15 A. Aslindicated, I -- I don't recall what other 15 Asset Management receive compensation from EFG Bank?
16 fees or other activities were envisioned by this 16 A. Tdon't believe EFG Assel -- EFG Capital Asset
17 agreement. I was not involved in the creation of this | 17 Management refers customers, and I don't believe that
18 agreement. 18  EFG Capital Asset Management receives compensation ag
19 Q. Who was involved in creating this agreement? 19  envisioned by this agreement.
20 A. Mr. Campane. 20 Q. Okay, So would EFG Asset -- Capital Asset
21 Q. Did you negotiate its terms at all? Did you 21 Management ever refer customers to EFG Capital’
22 negotiate the terms -- 22 Intemational, your company, the broker-dealer, or was
23 A. T'm sorry, what — negoliate whose termns? 23 it usually the other way around?
24 Q. Interms of this agreement, did you negoliate | 24 A. Most of the referrals are between EFG Capital
25 25 Internalional towards the asset management company, EFQ

the terms in this agreement?
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179 181
1 Capital Assel Management. 1 Q. Before it was in business was there a
2 Q. IFEFG Asset Management -- Capital Asset 2 registered investment advisor in the EFG family of
3 Management had a customer under discrelionary advising 3 companies?
4 and intreduced that customer {o EFG Private Bank for 4 A. Do you mean the EFG Capital --
5 custody purposes, would EFG Capital International 5 Q. Yes.
6 reccive a fee for that? 6 A. -- family of companies?
7 MR. COATES: Objecl to the form. 7 Q. Yes.
8 You may answer. 8 A. No.
9 THE WITNESS: EFG Capital International 9 Q. Prior --
10 typically would have already referred the customer 10 A Well --
11 to EFG Bank; and as a consequence recsived a 11 Q. Go ahead.
12 custody fee, if any, for that aclivity. 12 A. The registered investment advisor license was
13 1 then the same customer is referred to EFG 13 aresult of an acquisition.
14 Capilal Asset Management, the revenug orthe-- the | 14 Q. What was the acquisition?
15 agreement between EFG Capilal Asset Management and| 15 A. Of a broker-dealer owned by Dresdner Bank in
i6 EFG Capilal Intemational would be related to the 16 Florida.
17 revenues charged by EFG Capital Asset Management 17 Q. By Dresdner?
18 direclly. 18 A. Dresdner Bank in Florida.
13 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 19 Q. Do you recall when the acquisition was?
20 - Q. I'mnot sure [ understood that last part. 20 A. Thbelieve it was "05.
21  What do you mean? 21 Q. Prior to that acquisition did EFG Capital or
22 A. EFG Capital Asset Management charges a-- an 22 any EFG Capital affiliate provide discretionary
23 asset management fee for its -- 1o ils customers. And 23 management services to customers?
24  ifit gets referred a customer by EFG Capiltal 24 A. No.
25 International, EFG Capital International is entitled to 25 Q. If-- if a customer wanted an investment
180 182
1 a fee sharing, 1 advisor to provide discretionary management services,
2 Q. What percentage of the revenues are shared 2 would EFG Capital refer that person to somewhere clse?
3 between Capital Asset Management and EFG Capital 3 What -- how would it be handled?
4 International? 4 A. TIn what time period?
5 A. Of --I'm sorry -- of -- 5 Q. Before the acquisition.
6 MR. COATES: I'm going to object to the form 6 A. It could have been referred to an affiliate of
7 of the question. 7 EFG.
8  BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 8 Q. Which affiliate was that?
9 Q. Do you understand it? 9 A. Tt could have been ETFG Bank or EFG Private
10 A. No. 10 Bank at the time.
‘11 Q. Okay: i1 Q. Okay. Did EFG Private Bank provide
12 MR. COATES: That -- that was the basis of my 12 discretionary management services -- or discrelionary
13 objection, 13 investment services, [ should say, for customers prior
14 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 14 1o 200572
15 Q. Allnght. ¥ -- if EFG Capital Asset 15 A. Yes.
16 Management is referred a custoiner, it pays a percenlage i6 Q. And does it do so today?
17 of the revenue generated to EFG Capilal International, 17 A. Yes.
18  the broker-dealer. Correct? is Q. Ifa customer wants discretionary investment
19 A, Yes. 19 services, how is it determined which company, EFG Bank
20 Q. What's the percentage that's shared? 20  or BFG Capital Asset Management, gives the referral?
21 A. I--Tdon't recall precisely, but it may 21 A. Depends on the specific requirements of that
22 be-- it may be 70 percent. 22 customer.
23 Q. How long has EFG Capital Asset Management been) 23 Q. Give us some examples, please.
24 in business? 24 A. Ifa customer would like to have face-to-face
25 A. Less than five years. 25 interaclion with a porifolio management team during --
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183 185
1 on his business to Miami, we have an on-site portfolio 1 Q. You talking about Lhe second recital --
2 management team at EFG Capital Asset Management. 2 A, Yes.
3 Q. What other factors might go into which company 3 Q. -- on page -- the second page of this exhibit?
4 getsthe referral? 4 Isthatright?
5 A, Specific investment strategy that the -- a 5 A, Yes.
6 customer may want -- may want to pursue. Speciﬁc 6 Q. And the first term of the agreement on page 3,
7 limitations on the mandate. 7 Bales-labeled 1949, says. "EFGI. . ." that's EFG
B Q. Ifthe -- if the customer were to be referred 8 International ". . . shall assume all obligations of
9  to BFG Bank for discretionary investment services and 9 BFGZ..." whichis EFG Bank ". . . to make payments
10  advice, would the compeusation shared be pursuant to thg 10 under Lhe exisling agreement other than the revenue
11  business infroducing revenue agreement and its 11 fee
12 successors or would there be a separate agreement for 12 What is the purpose of this change?
13  that sort of referral? 13 A. T--1dont kuow precisely.
14 A. Tdon't know which agreement would cover that. 14 {Thereupon, the referred-to document was
15 Q. You mentioned before that you believe the 15 marked by the court reporter for Identification as
16 referral fee to EF -- EFG Capital Asset would be 16  Plaintiff's Exhibit 9.)
17 70 pereent of the revenues generated. Is that the same 17 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
18 number for investment management services that are 18 Q. Now let me show you what I'll mark as Exhibit
19 referred to EFG Bank? 19 9, which is a Business Introducing and Revenue Agreemen
20 A. By EFG Capital? 20 dated -- effective as of January 1, 2005. Its EFG
21 Q. Yes. 21  Capilal Bates Numbers [953 through 1955.
22 A. Tdon't believe so, but T don't -- I'm not 22 MR. COATES: Thanks, Larry.
23 sure whal agreement would cover that. 23  BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
24 (Thereupon, the referred-to document was 24 Q. Does your signature appear on this exhibit?
25 marked by the court reporter for Identification as 25 A. Yes, it does.
184 186
1 Plaintiff's Exhibit 8.) 1 Q. Now if you lock at Exhibit § and compare it to
2  BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 2 Exhibit 9, Exhibit 8 in the first recital refers to a
3 Q. Letme show you what I've marked as Exhibit 8. 3 January 1, 2005, agrecement, which appears to be
4 This is EFG Capifal 1947 through 1952, It's a Novation 4 Exhibit 9. Ts that correct?
5 Agreement Relating to Revene Agreement Between EFG an 5 A. What section are you referring to? 1'm sorry.
6 EFG Capital. 6 Q. First recital says that EFG Bank and EFG
7 Do you recognize either of the signatures on 7 Capital entered into an agreenient on January 1, 2005,
B this agreement? 8 called a Business Introducing and Revenue Agreement.
9 A. Sixto Campano’s and myseif. 9 A. Okay.
10 Q. Is it -~ was this agreement executed by EFG 10 Q. And what I'm showing you as Exhibit 9, is that
11  Bank and EFG [ntemational, to your knowledge? 11  the same agreement?
12 A. Tdon't know. It may have been. 12 A. Okay.
13 Q. Has -- was this novation agreement ever made 13 Q. So the Novation Agreement was actually
14 effective and performed? 14 changing Exhibit 9 in some fashion. Is that right?
15 A. It-it may have been. 15 A. With payments other than revenue fees, it
16 Q. Well, do you know one way or the other? 16 seems to be the only change. -
17 A, With certainty, no. 17 Q. Okay. What services was EFG Intemationat
18 Q. How did this novaticn agreement come about? 18 providing that would cause it fo be obligated for all
19 What caused this to happen? 19 payments other than revenue fees?
20 A. Tbelieve as a result of a reorganization in 20 A, [--1--I'wasnol involved inthe
21 Switzerland. 21 negotiation of either one of these agreements, either
22 Q. How did the reorganization in Switzertand 22 the Business Introducing and Revenue Apreement or thg
23 result in this agreement? 23 Novalion Agreement, so I cannot recall precisely what
24 A. Tdon't recall precisely, but I think Section 24 services BFG International may have been providing.
25 B addresses that issue. 25 Q. Who is the person at EFG Capital who I should
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187 189

1 ask questions about these two agreements, who was 1 Is that your understanding?

2 involved? : 2 A. TIs (hat -- what section is that that you're

3 A. Sixto Campano. 3 referring 107

1 Q. Since the Novation Agreement, Exhibit 8, has 4 Q. Section 1.2.

5 EFG Capilal paid -- been paid any fees from EFG 5 A. Yes, in general lerms.

6 International regarding referrals of customers? 6 Q. It says here, among services provided are

7 A. Idon't know what basis (hey may have 7 back-office work flow and process advice.

8  gotten -- EFG Capilal may have received payment, whether B What does that mean?

9 it was for all customers or something clse, but I 9 A. Twas not party fo the creation of this
10  believe that in (he statement of income you showed me 10  apreement and not aware as lo how it was technically
11 there were payments reflected there. 11  implemented with EFG Capital.

12 Q. From EFG Imtemational? iz Q. Well, what -- what, if any, back-office work

13 A. 1 can't recall, but I think you showed me a -- 13 flow advice or services are provided by EFG Bank to EFG

14 an income stalement to that effect. 14 Capital Internalional?

15 (Thereupon, the referred-to document was 15 A. Tdon't know under this agreement.

16 macked by the court reposter for Identification as 16 Q. Do you know what risk management support and

17 Plaintiff's Exhibit 10.) 17  advice is provided?

18 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 18 A. No.

19 Q. Let me show you what I've marked as Exhibit 19 Q. Do you know what financial and accounting

20 10, which is an Amendment Relaling to Business 20 supporiing advice is provided?

21 [Introducing and Revenue Agreement and Subsequent 21 A. No.

22 Novalion Agreemnent between EFG Bank, EFG International] 22 Q. Do you know what treasury management support

23 and EFG Capital International. 23 and advice is provided?

24 This is dated as of December 31 -- well, it's 24 A. Nope.

25  dated February 21, 2007, cffective December 31, 2006. 25 Q. Do you know what compliance and legal suppott
188 190

1 Have you seen (his agreement before? 1 and advice is provided?

2 A. Yes. 2 A Not specifically.

3 Q. Apparenlly from (his agreement the cormissions 3 Q. Do you know generally?

4 o be paid to EFG Capital were increased from 30 percent 4 A. Mot unless they give us puidance as to an

5 to 50 percent. Is that right? 5 {ssuethat they may want to give us guidance on or --

6 A. That's what it indicates in Seciion B, 6 Q. Give us an example.

7 Q. Has it been increased since that date? 7 A. Or we -- or we seck guidance.

8 A. Idon't believe so, but I was not involved in 8 Q. Give us an example.

9 the negoliation of this agreement. 9 A. I can't think of a specific example, but EFG
10 (Thereupon, the referred-to docurnent was 10 International is the parent of EFG Capital. So there
11  marked by the court reporter for Identification as . 11 may be instances where we may seek the agivicé of
12  Plaintiff's Exhibit 11.) 12  in-house counsel regarding a transaction that we could
13 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 13 contemplate.

14 Q. Let me show what I've marked as Exhibit 11, 14 MR. COATES: You can -- you can discuss in
15  which is something called an Operational Advice and 15 general terms the topic, but I am going to instruct
16 Support Services Agreement between EFG Bank and EFG] 16 you not to answer any specific questions as o

17 Capital Internalional. It's Bales Numbers EFG Capilal 17 advice you received from counsel.

18 1959 through 1968. 18 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG:

19 Have you seen this agreement before? 19 Q. Well, would you be seeking that advice from
20 A. ['may have seen it before. 20 EFG International's counsel or EFG Bank's counsel or
21 Q. Now, this agreement appears to provide that 21  both?

22 EFG Bank is going lo provide certain operational advice 22 MR. COATES: Object to the form of the

23 and support services to EFG Intemational Group 23 question.

24 companies including EFG Capital Intemational 24 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG:

25 Corporalion. 25 Q. You can answer.
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191 193
1 A. Depends on the -- on the situation. 1 THE WITNESS: Could you be more --
2 Q. Do you know what intemal audit advice or 2 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
3 services are provided to EFG Capital from EFG Bank? 3 Q. Bad question.
q A. Infernal audit audits EFG Capital on a 4 You said you haven't seen any internal or
5 periodic basis. 5 external audits done of the due diligence that EFG
6 Q. Are these financial audits, operaling -- 6 Capital did on Fairficld Sentry and Madoff. That's
T operational audits or both or olhers? T right?
B MR. COATES: Object to the form. 8 A. That's comrect.
9 THE WITNESS: Audils of the different 9 Q. Allright, Have you seen any analysis,
10 funclions within EFG Capital. 10 whether you call them audits or not, any analysis done
11 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 11 of the duc diligence that EFG Capital did on Fairfield
12 Q. Are you provided with -- with copies of these 12  Sentry and/or Madoff?
13  audits? 13 A. No.
14 A. Yes 14 Q. Have there been any recommendations from
15 Q. And do you review them? 15 anyone at EFG International or any of its affiliates
16 A, Yes. 16 regarding changes in your due diligence procedures that
17 Q. Have there been any audits done of the 17 should result from the fact that the Fairfield and
18  Fairfield Sentry/Bernie Madoff siluation? 18 Madoff investment tumed out to be worthless?
19 A, Tdon't recall specifically. 19 MR. COATES: I'm going to object to the form
20 Q. Did anybody from EFG Bank or EFG Capital comq 20 of that question.
21  in and audit your EFG Capital Intemational as to what 21 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
22 happened? 22 Q. Youmay answer.
23 A. Not that I'm aware of. 23 A. Tdon't believe there's been any significant
24 Q. Was there any audit or report done on the -- 24 changes in our due diligence procedures in the last two
25 on the due diligence procedures employed by EFG Capital| 25  years.
192 194
1 in connection with Faitfield Sentry and Madoff? 1 Q. Since Madoff was revealed as a fraud, have
2 A. Not that I'm aware. 2 there been any significant changes in the due diligence
3 Q. Have there been any reports gencrated on that 3  procedures?
4 topic that you have reviewed? 4 A, Tthink -~
5 *A. On which -- 5 MR. COATES: Object to the form of the
6 MR. COATES: I'm going to object to the form 6 question,
7 of the question. 7 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
8 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 8 Q. You said two years, you know, I -- does
9 Q. You can answer. 9 (hat -- does that predate Madoff?
10 A. On which topic? 10 A. Tthink I was refeming to the two
11 Q. Onthe topic of the due diligence procedures 11  years - alinost two years since.
12 conducted by EFG Capital Internationat on Fairfield 12 Q. Okay. MadofT was revealed in December of
13 Sentry and/or Madoff. 13 2008, Is that right?
14 ‘A, For intemal audit? 14 A. Correct.
15 Q. Yes. 15 Q. Sosince then there have been no significant
16 A. Not that I'm aware of. 16 changes in your due diligence procedures at the company?
17 Q. How about an external audit? Was an external 17 A. Tdon't believe so.
18  auditor brought in to look at those topics? 18 Q. Allright, Other than the agreements we've
19 A. No. 19 pone over, the revenue sharing agreements, are there any
20 Q. Have you seen any -- any reports at all or any 20 other agreements, to your knowledge, pursuant fo which
21 analysis at all done from any EFG internal or external 21 BFG Capital International shdres revenue with any other
22 person about the due diligence procedures at EFG Capita] 22 EFG-related company?
23 andfor Madoff? 23 A. Notthat I can recall.
24 MR. COATES: Object to the form of the 24 (Thereupon, the referred-to document was
25 question. 25 marked by the court reporter for Identification as
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185 197
1 Plaintift's Exhibit 13.) 1 Plaintifl's Exhibit 12.)
2 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 2  BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
3 Q. Let me mark as Exhibit 13 something called 3 Q. Exhibit 12 is a document entitled "Fairfield
4 Fairfield Sentry Limited Semiannual Update. It's Bates 4 Sentry Limited Monthly Strategy Review." Ii'sa
5 Numbers EFG Capital 1703 through 1712, S three-page document Bates-labeled EFG Capital 1710
6 Do you recognize Lhis document? 6 through 1712. Ask if you recognize --
7 A, Could you show me (he document? 7 MR. COATES: Excuse me, Larry, [ dont want to
8 Q. O, I'm sorry. Ithought I gave it to you 8 interrupt you, but T think we already have -- had a
9  I'msorry. 9 12.
10 A. 1dont recall this document. 10 MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: You don't. You havep
11 Q. Okay. Letme refer -- these may be separate 11 13. 1skipped the 12.
12 documents. 12 MR. COATES: What was (he operalional device?
13 MR COATES: Excuse me? 13 MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: Thatwas 11. 11,1
14 MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: These may be scparalg 14 believe.
15 documents, as I'm looking at them here. 15 MR. COATES: Okay. 13. Allright. Well, in
16 MR. COATES: Yeah, I think they are. i6 any event, I'm sorry for inlerrupting you.
17  BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 17 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
18 Q. Bulif you -- I'm looking particularly at 19 Q. Do you recognize Exhibil 127
19 Bates Number 1710, This is called -- 19 A. [ may have seen a report like this, but |
20 MR. COATES: Those are Lhe last two pages? 20  don't recall specifically this report.
21 MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: Yeah, the last three 21 Q. Did there come a point in time when Fairfield
22 pages actually should be. 22 Greenwich Group or Fairfield Sentry would provide
23 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 23 monthly and semiannual or perhaps annual reviews of
24 Q. This is called Fairfield Sentry Limited 24  their performance and stralegy?
25  Meounthly Strategy Review June 2008. It's on the heading 25 A. Tthink Fairfield Greenwich provided similar
196 198
1 of EFG Capital. 1 information on a periodic basis for many years.
2 Do you recognize this document? 2 Q. Allright. When -- when that was provided to
3 MR. COATES: 1'm going to just make an 3 EFG Capital Intemational, would they in tumn send it
4 observation. Tthink [7 -- Bates Number 1712 4 out to the clients who wete invested in Fairfield?
5 doesn't appear like it goes with 1711 -- 1710. 5 A. Tt depends whether the document was intended
6 There's a 1711 missing here. & for distributors or intended for sharcholders.
7 MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 1711 is not in your 7 Q. Ifyou look at the first page of Exhibit [2,
8  copy? 8 this appears to be on your company's letterhead, EFG
3 MR. COATES: No. 9 Capital.
10 MR. JASON KELLOGG: It's in here, this. 10 A. Yes.
11 MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: Yeah. Itsinmine. | 11 Q. Was - was there -- wete there persons in your
12 Allright. Let’s go off the record for a 12 company who were in charge of putling together notices
13 second, please. 13 like this and sending them out to customers?
14 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Going off the record. The] 14 A. Obviously someone was responsible for (his,
15 lime is 10:30. 15 butl can't recall who in particular was responsible.
16 (Thereupon, a recess was 1aken from 10:31 am. 16 Q. Allright, Was there a department or job
17 1o 10:36 am.) 17 function whose responsibility was to prepare and
18 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Altright. We'renowback] 18  disseminate information such as this, in Exhibit 127
19 on the record. The limeis 10:36. 19 A. That activity would have reported fo Sixto
20 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 20 Campano.
21 Q. Allright. While we were off the record I 21 Q. Ifyou look at -- and -- so do you -- you
22  found the correct document and I copied it and I marked 22 don't know who would have prepared or what job functior
23 it as Exhibit 12. 23 would have prepared the language contained in the first
24 {Thereupon, the referred-to document was 24  page of Exhibit 12, do you?
25 marked by the court reporter for Identification as 25 A. No.
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1 Q. Allright. Under the term "general notice,” 1 out lo your customers?
2 about middle of the page, first page of Exhibit 12, it 2 MR. COATES: Object to the forn.
3 says: "EFG Capital is the marketing name for the 3 THE WITNESS: I don't believe so.
4 securities and investiment advisory businesses of EFGf 4 BY MR, LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
5 Capital International Corp. and its affiliates 5 Q. Do you know who would be responsible for
6 worldwide."” & approving the language in these notices?
7 Is that correct? 7 A. Possibly consulted wilh external counsel in
8 A, 1t's correct with the extent of EFG Capital 8 Florida.
9 companies. 9 Q. That would be Holland & Knight?
10 Q. What do you mean? 10 A. Holland & Knight or Morgan Lewis.
11 A. So EFG Capital, rather than referring to "EFGy 11 Q. Allright. We spoke briefly last week about
12 Capital International Corp.", is often referred to as 12 agreements between Fairfield Sentry or Fairfield
13 just "EFG Capital." 13 Greenwich, or Fairfield and EFG Capital regarding
14 Q. Well, up at the top here it says "EFG 14 rebates.
15 Capital.” Do you see that? 15 Do you recall that teslimony?
16 A. Yes. 16 A. Yes.
17 Q. And it defines EFG Capital as the marketing | 17 (Thereupon, the referred-to document was
18 name for the securities and investment advisory 18  marked by the court reporter for Identification as
19 businesses of EFG Capital International and its 19 PlaintifPs Exhibit 14.)
20 affiliates worldwide. 20 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
21 And my queslion is, is that true? 21 Q. Since lhen we've been given some more
22 A. lts affiliates meaning the entities part of 22  information from you. Let me mark as Exhibit 14 a fax
23 EFG Capital Holdings. 23 o you from Ms. Lourdes Barreneche dated May 6th, two-
24 Q. Okay. So all those that are part of EFG 24 -- May 6th, 1999. It's EFG Capital Bates Number 1924.
25  Capital Holdings or all of those that are part of EFG | 25 Tt says: "Dear Victor, I would like to
200 202
1 Inteational? 1 confirm the following with regard to the rebate fees
2 MR. COATES: Object to the form. 2 payable to EFG Capilal International in the Fairfield
3 THE WITNESS: This uotice refers specifically 3 Sentry: The new rebale applicable for the year 1999
4 to companies within EFG Capital Holdings. 4 will be 25 percent of the management fee, By the end of
5 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 5  the second quarter EFG will receive 10 percent (increase
6 Q. Where does it say that? Where does it say 6  of 15 percent to 25 percent) for the first quarter 1999
7 that? 7 inaddition to the second quarter rebate.”
8 A. I--Idon'tthink it says that anywhere. B Do you see that?
9 Q. QOkay. So your -- your understanding is this 9 A. Yes, Ldo
10 only refers to EFG Holdings-related companies, Isthat|{ 10 Q. Does this refresh your memeory that prior to
11 right? o 11 1999, BFG was recgiving 15 percent of the management fee
12 A. Correct. 12 that Fairfield was charging to the fund for managing it?
13 Q. And what are the EFG Holdings-related 13 A. Thal's correct.
14 companies that are worldwide affiliates of EFG Capital | 14 Q. And then in 1999, effective January 1,
15 Intemnational Comp.? 15 apparently, that fee was increased from 15 percent to
16 A. BFG Capital International, the broker-dealer; 16 25 percent?
17 BFG Capital Assct Management, the registered investor | 17 A. That's correct,
18 advisor. The two companics named here. 18 Q. Was that something negotiated by you?
19 Q. Soihe only worldwide affiliates referred to 19 A. Possibly.
20  here are the ones here in the United States. Is that 20 Q. Well, do you have any recoliection of
21 rtight? Isthat your testimony? 21 negotiating?
22 A, Asto what EFG Capital refers to. 22 A, Trecall discussing this issue wilh Lourdes
23 Q. Did -- did anyone in legal or compliance at 23 Bameneche and Jelfrey Tucker.
24 EFG Bank or EFG International approve language that | 24 Q. When did you discuss the issue?
25  would be contained in notices like this that you sent 25 A, Possibly in 1999,
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1 Q. What caused you to do that? 1 A. When it was formed in 2005.
2 A. I can'trecall specifically. 2 Q. What is his actual job title, if you know it?
3 Q. Was this something that you discussed with 3 A. He is chief executive of EFG International.
4 Mr. Howell in advance? 4 Q. And prior to that he was chief executive of
5 A. Discuss what aspects? Sorry. 5 EFG Private Bank. [s that right?
6 Q. That you were going to try to get the 6 A, 1 believe so.
T management fee percentage increased from 15 lo 25 or 7 Q. Does -- does Mr. Howell or has Mr. Howell
8 somewhere? 8 participated in setting your compensation?
9 A. I'may have informed him. 9 A. Insetting my direct compensation? Yes.
10 Q. Was anybody else involved in those discussions | 10 Q. How does -- how -- how -- what is his
11 for E[FG Capital Intemational? 11 participation in your compensation?
12 A. In that time frame, probably, yeah, Mark 12 A. He agreed to the initial compensation when T
13 McCluskey would have been involved. 13 was hired in 1996.
14 Q. Was Lhe discussion at a face-to-face meeting? 14 Q. Do you -- as part of your compensation over
15 A. [can't recall. It -- it may have been in New 15 the years have you been -- have you received incentive
16 York. 16 bomses or bonuses of any kind?
17 Q. Did Mr. Howell ever attend any meetings with 17 A, 1do receive bonuses,
18 Fairfield? 18 Q. Are your bonuses at all tied to the
19 A. He may have. 19 performance of EFG Capital International?
20 Q. Do you recall him attending meetings with 20 A, Yes, they are.
21 Fairficld? 21 Q. How is it lied to that performance?
22 A. Specifically with -- with EFG Capital or -- 1 22 A, Formulaic. Formulaic.
23 nean, I'm not sure youw're -~ 23 Q. Formulaic. What is the formula?
24 Q. Well, he -- let's start with E['G Capital. 24 A. A percentage of the net revenues generated by
25 Did you ever attend a meeting with Mr. Howell 25  the businesses within that.
204 206
1 and Fairfield? 1 Q. So when you say "the businesses” -- "the
2 A. T--Treally can't recall. 2 businesses within that," do you include EFG Capital
3 Q. Did Mr. Howell, without you or without EFG 3 Asset Management?
4 Capital, have meetings wilh Fairfield? 4 A. EFG Capital Holdings' companies.
5 A. He may have. 5 Q. And that would include the asset management
6 Q. Do you know whether those meetings took place 6 business. 1s that right?
7 in the Uniled States? 7 A. Yes, it would.
8 A. T--1don't know, 8 Q. Does EFG Capital Holdings have separate
9 Q. Would Mr. Howell periodically come to the 9 consolidated financial statements?
10 United States for business mectings with you? 10 A. Apart from?
11 A. With EFG Capital, y¢s.- 11 Q. Apart fron we've -- do they have - do they --
12 Q. Yes. 12 does EFG Capital Holdings consolidate the business
13 How often would that occur? 13 operations of its subsidiaries inlo one consolidated
14 A. Depends on the year, Once, twice. 14 financial statement?
15 Q. What would be the purpose of his visits, 15 A. Thelieve so.
16 generally speaking, business discussions? 16 Q. What -~ what is ihe percentage of the net
17 A, Review business activities, 17 revenues that are used to calculate your bonus?
18 Q. Ithink you said last time that you have 18 A. Five percent.
19 always reported to Mr. Howell. {s that right? 19 Q. Poes any part of your compensation depend upor|
20 A. That's correct. 20 the performance of EFG Bank?
21 Q. So during 1996 until today you've reported to 21 A. No.
22 Mr. Howell? 22 Q. Does any part of your compensation depend upor
23 A. That's correct. 23 he performance of EFG Internationai?
24 Q. When did Mr. Howell become the head of EFG | 24 A. No.
25 Intemational? 25 Q. Does Mr. Howell approve the compensation of
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1 Mr. Campano? 1 Q. Well, we've (alked about various companies
2 A. Yes. 2 under EFG Holdings, which would be Capital Asset
3 Q. Does he approve the coinpensation of all the 3 Management --
4 senior executives of EFG Holdings? 4 MR. COATES: Hold, Wail.
5 MR. COATES: I'm going to object to the form 5 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
6 of the question. [ Q. --EFQG Capital Inlernational --
7 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 1 MR. COATES: Just so the record's clear, [
8 Q. You can answer, 8 think it's "EFG Capilal Holdings." You keep saying
9 A. T'm-- yes, I'm -- I'm trying to recall, 9 "EFG Holdings" --
10 Q. Okay. 10 MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: All right, I'm somy.
11 A. No, he would only approve the compensation of 11 MR. COATES: -- and we want to be precise.
12 Mr. Campano and myself. 12 MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: Does that -- I hope
13 Q. Does Mr. Howell approve the budget of -- is 13 that doesn't change any of the -« I'm sorry.
14  there a consclidated budget of EFG Holdings? 14 THE WITNIESS: I--1don't even know if a EFG
i5 MR. COATES: I'm going to object to the form 15 Holdings exisis. :
i6 of those questions, Ibelieve these -- these 16 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
17 questions were asked last lime. 17 Q. Okay. There's an EFG Capilal Holdings,
18 MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: Idon't think so. 18  though, isn't thers?
19 MR. COATES: Excuse me? 19 A. Yes, there is.
20 MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: Idon't think so. [--} 20 Q. Allright.
21 I have no intention or desire to redo my 21 A. Tt did not exist in 1999
22 deposition. 22 Q. Okay. In 1999 -- [rom 1999 forward, any
23 MR. COATES: Sure, 23 rebales that were paid by Fairfield Sentry, would -- did
24 MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: Idon't. Imean,'m| 24 they all go lo EFG Capital Intemational or were Lhey
25 not trying to, but T know -- maybe I did. IfI 25 spread out among other companies that might be
208 210
1 did, 1 apologize. 1 referring -- EFG companies that might be referring
2  BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 2 customers to them?
3 Q. But is there a -- is there a consolidated -~ 1 3 MR. COATES: Object to the form of the
4 know we lalked about budgets, but is there a 1 question.
S consolidated budget done every year of EFG Holdings and 5 THE WITNESS: T'm only aware of the agreement
6 all of its companies? 6 signed between EFG Capilal and the Fairficld
7 A, There are -- there is certainly a budget done 7 Greenwich Grougp for distribution of this fund and
8  of the broker-dealer and of 1he asset management 8 other lunds that they also sponsored. ‘
9 company. 9 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
10 Q. Are they separate or are they & consolidaled 10 Q. So would -- if a customer of EFG Asset
11 budget? ) 11 Management was referred, would the rebate fee be paid to
12 A. They are for each company. 12 EFG Capital Intenational?
13 Q. Are those budgets reviewed -- before they are i3 MR. COATES: I'm going to object to the form
14 approved, are they reviewed by Mr. Howell? 14 of the question.
15 A, They arc approved locally. 15 You may answer, sir.
16 Q. Are they reviewed by Mr. Howell? 16 THE WITNESS: 1answered as far as EFG Capital
17 A. Tdon'tknow. 17 Intemational. .
18 Q. Allright. Asof May 1999, Exhibit 14, we 18 EFG Capital Asset Management didn't exist in
19 were talking about the increase in the rebate from 19 1999,
20 Fairficld Sentry to EFG Capital. 20 DY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: )
21 Just so I understand, any customer that would 21 Q. Okay. It was forned ot acquired five years
22  berefemed to by any EFG Holdings-related entity, to 22 ago.
23 Fairfield, would be covered by this rebate. Is that 23 At -- subsequent to that time, would -- would
24 right? 24  any fees or any custorners who were referred by EFG
25 A. T'm not sure what you mean by "EFG Holdings.” 25 Capital Asset Management, would rebates be paid to EFG
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1 Capital Intemational? 1 Q. Do you know why that is?
2 MR. COATES: Object to the form. 2 A. No.
3 You may answer, 3 (. How do you know that there -- there wasn't
4 THE WITNESS: The -- the agreement that 'm 4  any?
5 aware of is between EFG Capital International and 5 A. . I donl recall having seen that.
6 the Faitfield Greenwich Group as sponsor of 6 Q. How would you have come fo see that?
7 Fairfield Sentry and other funds. 7 A. Through periodic investment review comunittees.
8 I don't recall whether that also affected EFG 8 Q. What are those?
9 Capital Asset Management. 9 A. Senior management reviews on a periodic basis
10 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 10 the activities of the -- of EFG Capital Asset
11 Q. Did EFG Capital Asset Management, in its 11 Management. And that would include review of specific
12 discretionary accounts, subscribe to Fairfield Sentry 12 accounts on a periodic basis.
13  for customers? 13 Q. Do you know whether EFG Bank or EFG Private
14 A. Idon't believe so. 14 Bank, when it was managing its clients’ investiments,
15 Q. So -- and none of those discretionary-managed 15 invested directly in Fairficld Sentry?
16 accounits had Fairfield Sentry investments in i(? s 16 A. 1 have no knowledge of that.
17 that right? 17 Q. Do you know whether EFG Capital Asset
18 A. They may have had through a multi-manager 18  Management invested any of its discretionary accounts irj
19 fund. They may have had through a multi-manager fuad| 19  any other MadofT feeder funds?
20 Q. What does that mean? 20 A. The only one I'm aware of is a multi-manager
21 A. Ifthey purchased a fund, a hedge fund, which 21 fund that may have had exposure through Fairfield --
22 invested in multi-manager, malti-asset class hedge funds| 22 through Fairfield Sentry.
23 and one of the underlying holdings was Fairfield Sentry,| 23 Q. What was the multi-manager fund you're
24 they would have had indirect exposure to Fairfield 24 referring to?
25 Sentry. 25 A. 1believe it was called Irongate..
212 214
1 Q. But if it was -- there were -- to your 1 Q. Do you know generally the antount of losses
2 knowledge there were no direct subscriptions of managed 2 suffered by EFG Capilal Asset Management cuslomers fron
3 money into Fairfield Seatry? Is that right? 3 their investmaents in Irongate?
q A. By lhe asset management company? Thal's what 4 A. No.
S Irecall 5 Q. Do vyou have a general idea?
6 Q. Was there a policy or a decision not to do % A. No.
7 that infernally? 1 Q. When you mentioned the investment review
8 A. No. 8 commiltees, would -- would the investment review
9 Q. Would soimeone else do it on behalf of the 9 commiltce approve or have any input in the approval of
10  asset management company? 10  what funds might be appropriate for investment of
11 MR. COATES: Object to the form of the 11  managed money?
i2 question, 12 MR. COATES: I'm going to object to the form.
13 THE WITNESS: I don't understand 1he question. 13 You may answer.
14 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 14 THE WITNESS; The investment review commitiee
15 Q. The way you phrased your answer, I'm wondering] 15 is not involved in the approval of the funds,
16 whether -- whether the discretionary accounts -- 16 rather Lhe review of the accounts being managed on
17 A, Uh-huh, 17 a discrelionary basis.
18 Q. -- and you mentioned they -- (hey may have 18 BY MR LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
19 invested in a fund of funds that would have Fairfild 19 Q. What would be the purpose of the review?
20 Sentry in it; but to your knowledge, there were no 20 A. To ascertain whether they're being managed in
21  direct investments into Fairfield Sentey by the 21 accordance with the mandates provided by the clients.
22 discretionary managers at EFG Asset -- Capital -- 22 Q. Was a decision made that Fairfield Sentry
23 A. BFG-- 23 would -- investmenls of managed money in Fairfield
24 Q. -- Asset, right? 24 Sentry would not be in accordance with the mandates of
25 A. Correct. 25  the clients?
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1 A. No. 1 provided in Exhibit 16 on behalf of EFG Capital
2 Q. Was there any rebate paid by Irongate, to your 2 Intemational?
3 knowledge? 3 A. Yes.
4 A. I--Idon't recall, but there may have been. q Q. Now, this one lists Fairfield Sentry Limnited
5 We had a distribution agreement with a number of fundy 5  Fund (Class B). Do you see that?
6 sponsored by Fairfield Greenwich. 6 A. Yes.
7 Q. Was Irongale sponsored by Faitfield Greenwich] 7 Q. And it says that for that fund EFG Capital
8 A. Yes. 8 International is going to be paid 20 basis points from
9 Q. Okay. 9 the management fee and 20 percent of the incentive fee
10 {Thereupon, the refemred-to document was 10  per annum, meaning every year. Is that right?
11 marked by the court reporter for [dentification as 11 A. That's corect.
12 PlaintifPs Exhibit 15.) 12 Q. Were -- were these fees paid on an annual
13 BY MR.LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 13  basis or a quarterly basis?
14 Q. Tl show you what I'll mark as Exhibit 15, 14 A. 1cannot recall when exactly they paid them
15  whicli is Bates-labeled EFG Capital 1925 through 1928) 15  throughout the year.
16 dated February 21, 2001, a Letter of Understanding. 16 Q. And what's the difference between the
17 Does your signature appear on Exhibit 157 17 management fee and the incentive fee in your
18 A, Yes, it does. 18 understanding?
19 Q. Did you have anything to do with negotiating 19" A. I'msomry. For which one of the two Fairfield
20  this agreement? 20 Sentry funds? I'm not sure there's a difference.
21 A. I'was probably involved in some aspects of it, 21 I'm--
22 yes. 22 Q. Pairfield Seniry Limited Fund (Class B).
23 Q. Well, how did this agreement come about? 23 Lef's start with that one.
24 A. I'msomy? 24 A. I'm not sure what -- what the Class B was of
25 Q. How did this come about, this agreement? 25 that fund.
216 218
1 A. Tcan't recalt whether Fairfield Greenwich 1 Q. Allright.
2 increased the number of funds they were sponsoringand| 2 A. Okay.
3 they wanted to have an agreement with us as distributory 3 Q. Did you have an understanding of the fees that
4 for a larger number of funds that they were sponsoring. 4 EFG Capitaf --
5 Q. On page 2 there's a list of various funds. 5 A, Yes.
6 Were any of the funds listed on page 2 Madoff feeder 6 Q. -- was being rebated?
7 funds? 7 A. Yes.
8 A. I--1don't believe so, but [ cannot be 8 Q. What's the difference between a management fee
9 certain about every single one of them. ' 9 and an incentive fee? :
.10 Q. Do you know whether EFG Capital International] 190 A. The menagement fec was & fixed management feg
11 drafted this agreement or Fairfield drafted it or was it 11 whichis sponsored or charged to the fund. And the
12  acombination of both? 12  incentive fee was part of the managed fee which was not
13 A. Thelieve this was drafted by Fairfield 13 fixed which was based on performance of the fund.
14 Greenwich. 14 (Thereupon, the referred-to document was
15 (Thereupon, the referred-to document was 15 marked by the couri reporter for Identification as
16 marked by the court reporter for Identification as 16 Plaintiffs Exhibit 17.)
17  Plaintiff's Exhibit 16.) 17 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
18 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 18 Q. I'll show you what I'll inark as Exhibit 17,
19 Q. TI'l show you what I'm going to mark as 19  which is a May 18, 2006, letter to you from Fairfield.
20 Exhibit 16, which is a November L, 2004, letter -- 20 It's Bates Numbers EFG Capital 1930 to 1932.
21  somy -- from Fairficld to EFG Capital Intcrnational, 21 Ask if you recognize this agreement, Do you
22 Bates Number EFG Capital 1929, 22 recognizeit?
23 Is this your signature at the bottom of this? 23 A, Yes.
24 A, Yes,itis. 24 Q. Does your signature appear on it?
25 Q. And you have agreed and accepted the terms 25 A. Yes, it does.
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1 Q. Now, Lhis amends the prior letter agreement we 1 Limited Do you know what Sigma and Lambda are or were?
2 just looked at from February of 2001, Do you sce that? 2 A, Yes, they're two other Fairfield Sentry funds '
3 A, ltrefers (o it yes. 3 denominated in different currencies.
4 Q. And it replaces Section | with the following: 4 Q. When you say "denominated in different
5 Quote: In relation to subscriptions by 5 currencies," you mean other than U.S. dollars?
6 clients introduced by EFG Capital Intemational Corp., 6 A. Cormrecl.
7 EFG Bank, or any of their respective offices or 7 Q. Did -- Did EFG Capilal International refer
8 branches, directly or indircclly, the fees shall be 8 customers (o the Sigma and Lambda funds?
9 calculated as described in Annex 1. 9 A. Wemay have. Imnot. ..
10 Then it says, "Payment will be effected 10 Q. Was therc any scparate dug diligence done of
11 quarterly," et cetera, 11 Sipma or Lambda funds?
12 A. COkay. i2 A. My understanding is that the strategy is lhe
i3 Q. Why was EFG Bank added to this arrangement af 13 same for al} three funds and the only difference was the
14  this point? . ‘14 currency denomination of the underlying shares of the
15 A. I'mnot certain, ) 15 fund.
16 Q. Were you authorized to -- to sign this on 16 Q. So for that reason, whalever due diligence was
17  behalf of EFG Bank? 17 performed on Fairfield Sentry applied (o the other two
18 A. The agreement's addressed to EFG Capital, 18 funds?
19 Q. Were you authorized by EFG Bank -- 19 A. Correcl.
20 A. And-- 20 Q. Now, there are different compensation
21 Q. I'msorry. Go ahead. 21 structures for the different funds listed on Exhibit 17.
22 MR. COATES: Let him finish. 22 Do you sce that?
23 THE WITNESS: I--1don't recall whether EFG 23 A, You said Exhibit 177 I'm sorry.
24 Bank had a separate agreement or nol. 24 Q. Ycs, the - the lelter agreement May 18, 2006,
25 - 25  has aschedule attached to it --
220 222
1 BY MR LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 1 A. Yes.
2 Q. Allright. Would you agrec with me that 2 Q. -- that has various funds on it. There are
3 this - this seclion says that the agreement dated 3 different rebate formulas for the different funds. [s
4 February 21, 2001, is going to apply to clients 4 thatright? '
5 introduced by EFG Bank? 5 A. Yes.
6 MR. COATES: I'm going fo object to Lhe form 6 Q. Were these rebate formulas negotiated by you
7 of the question. 7 or by somebody at EFG Capital?
8 THE WITNESS: I don't know, I'm - T am 8 A. In 2006, 1 guess, this would have been
9 agreeing -- the letter's addressed to EFG Capilal, 9 reviewed by myselfand Sixto Campano.
10 signed by EFG Capital, and the funds are different 10 Q. Well, did -~ do you recalf having a meeting
11 than in the prior two letters you showed e, So 11 with Fairfield where you negotlated for the different
12 there are -- there's an expanded list of Funds for 12 funds what the rebate might be?
13 which we have, I guess, discussed rebates. 13 A. I'mnot sure we had specific -- a specific
14 So I can't recall whether the purpose was fo 14 meeting to discuss all the funds at one time. We may
15 add parties to the agreement or just expand the 15 have discussed different poinls at different points in
16 list of funds referred to in the agreements, 16 time.
17 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 17 I'm not even certain that we distributed all
18 Q. Before you signed this agreement, did you 18  of their funds.
19 discuss the issue with Mr, Howell or anyone at EFG Bank] 19 Q. Allright. How many funds of Fairfield were
20  that you were going fo be signing an agreement saying 20  actually distributed or sold to EFG Capital customers
21 that any clients introduced by EFG Bank are going to be 21 through your company? ‘
22 subject to a rebate on a schedule? 22 A. You mean Fairfield Greenwich-sponsored funds®
23 A. Idon'trecall. 23 Q. Yes, that's fine.
24 Q. Now, the -- the funds that are on the 24 A. Well, clearly here in this document there are
25  schedule, the first one is Fairfield Sentry/Sigma/Lambda 25  one, two, three, four, five, six -- eight, nine --
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1 there's at least ten in this document where they offered 1 (A portion of the record was read by the
2 us adistribution agreement and rebates. I can't tell 2 reporter.) )
3 you right now whether we actually distributed all ten of 3 THE WITNESS: Your question was whether I
4 them. 41 recognize this document?
5 Q. Did you have -- do you know, as you look at 5 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
6 any of these, do you know any of them that you are 6 Q. Yes.
7 certain that -- other \han Fairfield Sentry/Sigma/Lambdy 7 A. Mot necessarily this document.
8 - that you are certain that you distributed? 8 Q. Allright. Do you remember that in early 2006
9 A. Yes, we distributed Fairfield Renaissauce and 9 Fairfield made a presentation at EFG Capital about other
10  Fairfield Redstone. 10 funds?
11 THE COURT REPORTER.: "Fairfield"? 11 A. They made numerous presentations throughout
12 'THE WITNESS: Redstone. 12 the years about numerous funds.
13 I can't recall the rest. i3 Q. So you don't particularly recall this one?
14 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 14 A. No.
15 Q. Were either Fairfield Renaissance or Fairficld 15 Q. Allright. If you tum to page 332 in Exhibit
16 Redstone Madoff feeder funds? i6 18.
17 A. No. 17 A. What page?
18 Q. Did EFQ Capital Intemational distribute 18 Q. 332, Bates-labeled 332 at the bottom.
19 [Irongate? 19 A. Uh-huh.
20 A Yes. 20 Q. Itsays here that. Fairfield funds cucrently
21 Q. Now, I don't see Trongate on this schedule. 21 onthe EFG recommended list are Chester Global Strategy
22 You said Irongate was a Fairfield-sponsored fund, orany 22 Limited Fund, Irongate, Fairfield Sentry, Fairficld
23 [ wrongabout that? 23  Redstone, and Arlington Intemationat Limited.
24 A. You're correct. It was a Fairfield-sponsored 24 Do you see that?
25 [und. 25 A. Yes.
224 ‘ 226
1 Q. What was the rebate, if any, calculated on the 1 Q). Does that refresh your meniory that at least
2 Irongate? 2 these five Fairfield-sponsored funds were recommended by
3 A. [ can'trecall. 3 EFG at one - al least as of 20067
q Q. Was it different than Fairfield Sentry, Sigma 1 A. This is a Fairfield Greenwich document, not an
5 and Lambda? 5 EFG Capital document, so it's -- it's what (hey
6 A. Tcan'trecall. 6 indicale,
7 Q. Do you know whether there was a separate 7 Q. Tmasking --
8 agreement covering Irongate? 8 A. [--Tcan't --1can't be a hundred percent
9 A. [don't know when Irongaté was launched, 9 certain if their document was accurale with what may
10  whether it existed in '06 or not. 10 have been on our approved list.
11 Q. ‘Was there any separate due diligence done on 11 Q. Does this refresh your memory as to what was
12 the Irongate Fund? 12 onthe approved list?
13 A. Idon't recall. 13 A. TthinkIindicated that we distributed
14 Q. You don't recall one way or another? 14 Redstone already. Iindicated (hat we distributed
15 A. Idon't recall. 15 Seniry. And1indicated that we distributed Irongate
16 {Thereupon, the referred-to document was 16 already.
17 marked by the court reporter for Identification as 17 Q. Okay. What was Chester Global Strategy?
18 Plaintiff's Exhibit 18.) 18 A. Tt was another mulli-manager, mulli-strategy
19 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 19 fund sponsored by Fairficld Greeawich.
20 Q. Let me mark as Exhibit 18 a document, EFG 20 Q. Whas that also a MadofT feeder fund, to your
21  Capital 325 through 338, January 2006 presentation on] 21 knowledge?
22 alternative investment funds. 22 A. Idon'trecall whether it had Fairfield Sentry
23 Ask if you recognize it. 23 initornot. It was amulti-manager, inuli-asset class
24 MR. COATES: Can you just repeat what he-- | 24 fund.
25 counsel just read into the record? 25 Q. What was Iairfield Redstone Limited, if you
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1 recall? 1 Understanding regarding Chester Management, Fairficld
2 A. Tihink it was a -- a -- an equily -- an 2 Greenwich Limited, Fairfield Gren- -- various different
3 equity hedge fund, but I can't recall the exact 3 agreements that you see here.
4 strategy. 14 To your recollection, were (here different
5 Q. Was that a split-strike conversion strategy 5 agreements covering different funds thal were
6 again? ‘ 6 distributed for Fairfield by EFG Capital?
7 A. No. ‘ L A. [ don't recall specifically.
8 Q. Okay. Was that a Madolf feeder fund, to your 8 Q. Paragraph 1 refers lo "Compensation,” and it
9  knowledge? 9 says the fees are going to be calculated as described in
10 A. No. 10 the attachment --
11 Q. Allright. Arlington Intemational Limited, 11 A, Okay.
12 do you know what that was? Was that a Madoff fund? | 12 Q. --the Annex 1. Tt says Lhat, however,
i3 A. Idon'trecall precisely, but I don't believe 13  (he -- "No fees shall be payable for any quarter unless
14 that was a Madoff fund. 14 the sum of Lhe investments made by clients introduced by
i5 Q. Aad then it says, under review is Fairfield 15 the agency, net of redemptions, excluding the funds of
16 Briscoe Scuior Capital Limited and Fairfield Trafalgar 16 funds, equals or exceeds $2 million."
17 Limited. 17 Do you ses that?
18 Do you see that? 18 A. Yes.
19 A. Yes. 19 Q. Was there a $2 million threshold before
20 Q. Do you know if those funds were Madoff feeder| 20 rebates were effective? How did that work?
21 funds? 21 MR. COATES: I'm going to object to the form.
22 A, Idon'tbelicve so, but that was, again, 22 THE WITNESS: It is not unusual in the hedge
23 Fairfield Greenwich's statements that we were reviewing 23 fund world or mutual fund world to have to reach
24 ihose. [don't recall whether, in fact, we were or not 24 minimum (hresholds before rebates are paid to
25 atthetime. 25 distributors.
228 230
1 Q. Okay. Do you know whether they ever made it 1 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
2 to the approved list? 2 Q. And so in this instance, the -- the threshold
3 A. Tcan't recall. 3 was $2 million?
4 Q. Let me mark as Exhibit 19 a November 29, 2007, 4 A. It seems that way.
5 Letter of Understanding, which is EFG Capital 1933 5 Q. Was there -- were there periodic
& through 1941. 6 reconciliations between Fairfield and EFG Capital as to
7 {Thereupon, the referred-to document was 7  what monies were owed?
8 marked by the court reporter for Identification as 8 A. 1--Tdon'tknow. Imean, EFG Capital has
9 Plaintiff's Exhibit 19.) 9  maybe hundreds of distribution agreecments. So I'm not
10 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 10 sure that we reconciled the one more than the other, I
11 Q. Ask if you recognize this document? 11 mean... ‘ ] ‘
12 A. Not necessarily. 12 Q. Well, was there a departrment that would do
13 Q. Do you recall in the end of 2007 that there 13 nothing but reconcile these rebates?
14  was a modified Letter of Understanding between Fairfield| 14 A. No.
15 Seatry and EFG Capital regarding rebates? 15 Q. Was there a person whose function included
i6 A. Isthis a document you showed me prior to this 16 that task?
17 one or are you asking me to recall something else? 17 A. Reconciliations would have been done under
i8 Q. No, do you recall that in the end 0f 2007 2 18 accounting.
19 new agreement was enfered into? 19 Q. Did - did EFG Capital meet its $2 million
20 A. Not necessarily. 20 threshold for the Fairfield Sentry rebates?
21 Q. Does your signature appear? The signatures 21 A. Is this document for Fairfield Sentry or for
22 arcon page 1937. 22 other funds?
23 A. Yes, itdoes. 23 Q. Itincludes Fairficld Sentry.
24 Q. Okay. In the first paragraph this -~ this 24 A. Tdon't know if this compensation agresnient is
25 Letter of Understanding refers to some other Letters of 25 for per fund or for all the funds within the family
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1 sponsored by Fairficld Greenwich. 1 diligence of Madoff and his activities?
2 Q. Well, when you say that, you mean you don't -- 2 A. TFairlield Greenwich and Fairfield Sentry was
3 you don't know whelher you have to have $2 miflionpeq 3 moniloring the activities of all the extemal providers
4 fund or whether it's the aggregate of all the funds? 4 1o the fund.
5 A, Tt's unclear to me right now. I'd have to 5 Q. Would that include Mr. MadofI?
6 reread it 6 A. Tt would include its subadvisor, Madolf
7 Q. And as without reading that document, you 7 Securities; it would include PWC, the external auditor;
8 don't have any recollection as to whether you had to 8 and Citco, the cuslodian.
9  meet a $2 million threshold on a macro basisora 9 Q. And for that service, was Fairfield Greenwich
10 per-fund basis? 10 or Fairfield Greenwich Bermuda, the investment manager,
11 A, T--Idon't recall. 11 being paid a fee from the fund?
12 Q. Isthat another function that Mr. Campano may 12 A. ldon't--
13 bemore familiar than you? 13 MR. COATES: Object to 1he form.
14 A. He may or may not be, 14 THE WITNESS: I don't recall which entity was
15 Q. Okay. 15 the precise fund manager or fund sponsor; but
16 (Thercupon, the referred-to document was 16 certainly there is a fund management fee taken by a
17 marked by the court reporter for Identification as 17 Fairfield Greenwich entity for the --
18 Plaintiff's Exhibit 20.) 18 DBY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
19 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 19 Q. And that was -- go aliead.
20 Q. I'mgoing to show you Exhibit 20, which is a 20 A. --for the management and -- and the running
21 June 12, 2008, letter to Mr. Echevarria from Fairfield 21 of that fund.
22 Greenwich. Do you recall Exhibit 20? It's 22 Q. Now, the incenlive performance fee that was
23  Bales-labeled EFG Capital 1942 through 1943. 23 paid, was that in retum for same of the ongoing due
24 A. Not necessarily. 24 diligence and moniforing that Fairficld Sentry was
25 Q. This says that the agreements are going to be 25 supposcdly pecforming on Mr. Mado[f's company?
232 234
1  modified to make the threshold $3 million. Do you sec 1 MR. COATES: Object to the form of the
2 that? 2 question.
3 A, Yes. 3 THE WITNESS: I don't believe that the
4. Q. Do you recall that change being made? 4 incentive fee and management fee were separate. In
5 A. Not really. 5 other words, the management -- the fixed component
6 Q. Did -- did EFG Capital have more than 6 and -- fixed component and the variable component
7 $3 million of its custeniers' money in Fairfield Sentry? 7 were just the sum of the management fee.
3 A. Again, the letter refers -- I'm not sure it 8 BY MR, LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
9  refers fund by fund or for all of the funds sponsored by 9 Q. Soyou -- you viewed those as both management
10 Fairfield Greenwich. - 10 fees. Ts that right?
11 Q. Okay. But my question to you is, as you sit 11 A. That's correct.
12  here today, did EFG Capital have more than $3 millionof 12 Q. And those fees in part were paid in return for
13 its customers' money in EFG -- in Fairfield Sentry hedge | 13  TFairfield, the manager, whichever entity that was,
14 fund? 14 monitoring and doing due diligence on Mr. Madoft. Is
15 A. There was, I think -- I believe the 15 thatright?
16 subscriptions exceeded $3 million. 16 MR. COATES: Object to the form of the
17 Q. Do you recall the dollar volume level that - 17 question.
18 that existed as of December 20087 18 THE WITNESS: I think the -- the fee is paid
19 A, Asof December 20087 19 for managing the fund and whatever that implies
20 Q. Yes, when the fraud was revealed. 20 from fund to fund.
21 A. Less than 50 million. 21 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
22 Q. Do you have an exact figure? 22 Q. Well, in your view - in your view, did you
23 A. No. 23 expect Fairficld, the manager, to be performing ongoing
24 Q. Was it your understanding 1hat Fairfictd 24 due diligence of Mr. Madoff?
25 Seniry was monitoring and performing ongoing due 25 A. Tdon't know if the word is "due diligence,"
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1 but certainly reviews of the performance and reviews of 1 Q. Did you ever refuse Lo sign ady of the
2 transactions undertaken by the fund in accordance with 2 agreements with Fairfield because they made your company
3 the mandate given by the fund to its advisor. 3 the agent of the fund?
4 Q. And EFG Capilal was sharing in that fee, was 1 MR. COATES: Objeck to the form of the
5 itnot? 5 question.
6 A, I'msorry? 6 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
7 Q. EFG Capital was sharing in that fee, was it 1 Q. You can answer.
8 not? L] A, Idon'trecall.
9 MR. COATES: Object to the form of the 9 Q. Did you ever try 1o negoliale with them and
10 question. 10 say, Look, [ --I don't want (o sign a contract saying
11 THE WITNESS: Distributors were offeredafec | 11 my company's your agent, because we're not?
12 to place the fund. 12 MR. COATES: Object to the form
13 BY MR.LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 13 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
14 Q. EFG Capital was paid 20 percent of the 14 Q. Anything like that?
15 management fee and -- and 20 basis points -- 20 percent| 15 MR. COATES: Tt mischaracterizes the
16  of the incentive management fee and 20 basis pointsof | 16 document -
17 the fixed management fee. Is that correct? 17 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
18 MR. COATES: Object to the form. is Q. You can answer.
19 BY MR LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 19 MR, COATES: -- and his testimony.
290 Q. You can answer. 20 THE WITNESS: The document which I signed on
21 A. EFG Capital was paid a percentage of the fixed 21 behalf of EFG Capital was a distribution agreement,
22 fee and a percentage of the variable fee or incentive 22 and fund sponsors or wholesalers typically don't
23 f[ee for distribution of the fund, 23 negotiate the terms of a distribution agrecment as
24 Q. Did you consider EFG Capital to be the agent 24 far as language.
25 of Fairfield Greenwich Limited for distribution of these | 25
236 238
1 funds? 1 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
2 MR. COATES: I'm going to object to the form 2 Q. To your knowledge did anyone at EFG Capital,
3 of the question. 3 including yourself, ever send a telter to Fairfield
4 BY MR, LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 4 Greenwich saying, “We are not your agent"?
5 Q. You can answer. 5 " MR. COATES: Object lo the form of the
6 A. Ibelieve that the distribution agreement 6 question.
7 refers to distributors as agencies, but at no time did 7 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
8 we believe there would be -- do I believe that a 8 Q. You can answer.
9 distributor is necessarily an agent of a fund. 9 A Ddontrecall aletier going out as we were
10 Q. Well, the agreements say "agency." Correct? | 10  comfortable with e relationship of a disicibutor,
11 A, Correct. 11 MR LAWRENCE KELLOGG: Why don't we go off th
12 Q. Butyou don't think you're an agent. [s that 12 record and take a break.
13 your position? 13 MR, COATES: Thank you.
14 A, Ithink-- 14 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Going off the record. The
15 MR, COATES: Object to the form of the 15 time is 11:35,
16 question. 18 (Thereupon, a recess was taken from 11:35am.
17 You may you answer. 17  to 12:01 pm)
18 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 18 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: All right. We're now back
19 Q. I'mjust trying to understand what you just 19 ontherecord. The lime is 12:01,
20 said. 20 BY MR LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
21 A. Tihink -- 21 Q. When Fairficld Sentry was put on the
22 Q. Go ahead. 22 recommended list of EFG Capilal Inlemationat,
23 A. Ibelieve that we were a distributor of the 23 approximately how many hedge funds were on that list?
24 fund as we are a distributor for tens of mutual funds 24 A. T—TIdon'trecalt exactly how many hedge
25 and hedge funds domiciled throughout the world. 25 funds we had on our approved list at that time.
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1 Q. Do you have a general idea? 1 50,50
2 A. No. 2 MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: Okay. Wehada
3 Q. Do you have any -- when you say your "approved 3 disagreement. I (hought it was 15. Thank you.
4 list,” was there some other list that you -- they might 4 MR. COATES: Notice I did not object to that
5  have been on? 5 question as asked and answered. Iunderstand that
6 A. No. 6 you did have --
7 Q. Okay. What percentage of assets under K MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: I just dida't hear it
8 management or agsets with your company from custoners 8 right.
9 were invesled in Fairficld Sentry at the peak'? 9 MR. COATES: -- a questicn about it.
10 A. Thave no -- no recollction of that 10 MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: As usual my son i
11  whalsoever. 11 correct.
12 Q. What would you look at to find that out? 12 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
13 A. There is no -- there's no normal report 13 Q. Since Fairfield Sentry was -- was placed on
14 available on an ongoing basis unless you ask for a 14  the approved list, has any hedge fund been removed from
15 specific search in the database, 15 the approved list?
ie Q. Last time you mentioned that there were 16 A. Yes. Funds have been added and removed over
17 offering sheets circulated to sales representatives that 17 the years.
18  would have approved funds on 1hose sheets. 18 Q. What would be some of the reasons for removing
19 How often were those circulated? 19 afund?
20 MR. COATES: I'm going to object to the form, 20 A. Perfonnance. Change of advisor. Variation in
21 THE WITNESS: I--Idon't recall how often, 21 the existing strategy from the investment objective.
22 and it probably varied by asset class. 22 Various reasons.
23 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 23 Q. Was there ever a situalion where a fund was
24 Q. For -- for Fairficld Sentry, would (here be a 24 removed because you thought that the operational
25  circular prepared by EFG Capital that would have 25  structure was deficient? Of the fund,
240 242
1 information about that particular fund, or would these 1 A. Not to my recollection.
2 lists contain say ten or twelve hedge funds at a time? 2 Q. Has a fund ever been considered for approval
3 MR. COATES: Object to the form. 3 and denied becausc of deficiencies in the operational
4 THE WITNESS: There were fact sheets or tear 4 structure of the fund?
5 sheets prepared for al{ the hedge fund -- hedge 5 A. Tean't recall,
6 funds on the approved list. 6 Q. You don't recall one way or another or you
7 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 7 don't think it happened?
8 Q. Okay. And who would -- who would prepare 8 A, Idon't recall one way or the other.
9 those at the company? 9 Q. Do you have any recollection of -- of
10 A. Thatresponsibility probably varicd at 10 reviewing a fund and determining that the operational
11 different polnts in time, and recently would fall under | 11 - structure is deficient?
12  the responsibility of Sixto Campano or his - whoever he] 12 A. Not specifically, no.
13 delegales. 13 (Thereupon, the refermed-to document was
14 Q. These -- these would be Fact sheets or tear 14 marked by the court reporter for [dentification as
15 sheets that would be circulated to salespeople? 15 Plaintiff's Exhibit 21.)
16 A. Ifrequested. 16 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
17 Q. Would they also be circulated to potential 17 Q. Let me have marked -- Iet me have marked as
18  customers or actual customers? 18  Exhibit 21 a multipage document entitled "EFG Capital
19 A. They could be shown to customers. 19 Intemational Due Diligence Memorandum." It's
20 Q. Before the break [ asked you how - what was 20 Bates-labeled EFG Capital 262 through 269,
21  the dollar volume of funds that EFG Capital's customers | 21 And ask if you recognize this document.
22 had in Fairfield Sentry at the time the fraud was 22 A. I'may have seen it before.
23 revealed. Did you say 15 million or 507 Less than 50 23 Q. Do you know what it is?
24 orl5? 24 A. ltappearsto be a review of the Fairficld
25 A. 1said I recall -- I said I recall less than 25  Sentry Fund performed in 2005.
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1 Q. How can you tell it was perfored in 20057 1 Fairfield Sentry in the approved list, and then
2 A. There is indications in here as fo statistics 2 there were periodic reviews performed throughout
3 of March 2005. 3 our time.
4 Q. Okay. Where are you referring to? 4 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
5 A. Inthe first page. 3 Q. Do you know why there was review performed in
6 Q. Isee, where it says, "AUM in Program, March & March of 20057
7 2005, $5.2 billion." Is that what you're referring to? ? A. No.
8 A Yes. _ 8 Q. Do you have any knowledge of who conducted du
9 Q. And do you know who prepared it? 9 diligence in 20057
10 A, No. 10 A. No, it was under the guidance of Sixto
11 Q. Do you know who was responsible for due 11 Campano.
12 diligence at EFG Capital in March of 20057 12 Q. Allright. If you look at page 266 of
13 A. [t would have been supervised by Sixlo 13  Exhibit 21, there's a section dealing wilh custody as
14 Campano. 14 beingarisk factor.
15 . Q. Doyou tecognize this as being an EFG Capital | 15 And it says: "The [und's assets are
16 document, EFG Capital International document? 16 custodized with Bernard L. MadofT Tnvestment Securities,
17 A. Tbelieve so. Again, 1 may have seen this 17 rather than with a major intemational bank (directly or
18 document in the past, but I -- 1 don't have any 18 through a subsidiary) as is the case with most
19 recollections about specifics of this document. 19 investment funds. Bemard L. Madoff Investment
20 Q. Do you know why you would have reviewed the| 29 Securilies had capital as of October 31, 2003, of U.S.
21 doc- -~ the document? 21  $478 million. This is much less than the capilal of a
22 A. T'm not saying I reviewed the document. [ 22 major international bank; to that extent Investing in
23  said 1 may have seen it in the past. 23 the fund represents one of the risks of investing in the
24 Q. Okay. Why would you have seen it? 24 fund."
25 A. TLmay -- someone may have shown it to me, but| 25 Do you see that?
244 246
1 [don'trecall this document. 1 A, Yes.
2 Q. Okay, So you don't have any specific 2 Yes.
3 recollection of ever looking at it before? 3 Q. Atthe time were you aware (hat all of the
4 A. Absolutely not. 4 fund's assets were actually in the custody of Mr. MadofT
5 Q. This refers fo, in the second box here, an S rather than with Citco?
6 initial due diligence being -- refers to three meetings, 6 A. Citco was always the custodian of Fairfield
7 in August of 1998, June of 1999, and July of 2000. Do 7 Sentry Limited. And Citco had the possibility of
8  you see hat? 8 sub-custodizing with third parties, including Bernard
] A. Yes. 9 MadofT Securities, and that was disclosed in the
10 Q. Do you know where that information might have 10 offering memorandum. .
11 come from? ' T - ‘11 Q. And did you understand that prior to March of
12 A. The information that due diligénce was 12 2005 that Mr. Madoff actually had physical custedy of
13  performed on those dates or that meetings were held on 13 whatever assets were in the fund?
14 those dates? 14 A. I'm not sure it was Mr. MadofT; it was his
15 Q. Yes. 15  firm who had custody, as authorized by Citco, the global
16 A. No, I'm not sure who provided those dates or 16 cusfodian.
17  (he participants of the meetings. 17 Q. Did you know that prior to March of 20057
18 Q. In--in the due diligence process, would i8 A, Yes.
19 there be an ongoing database at the company where people) 19 Q. When did you first leam tha(?
20 performing due diligence reviews could input information| 20 A. Probably early on, 1--I can't tell you
21 into the database? 21 whether it's -- '98, '99, 2000, 2001, early on in the
22 MR. COATES: Object to the form. 22 relationship. It was disclosed in the offering
23 THE WITNESS: 1 don't know whether we have a 23  memorandum. [t was not a secret.
24 database or a series of files. There was obviously 24 Q. Did you consider that to be a risk, that is,
25 due diligence performed initially to place 25  that Mr. Madoff not only made the investment decisions
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1 but had physicat custody of the securities? Supposedly 1 A. EFG Capital has not.
2 purchased. p Q. Has EFG Bank or EFG Intemational sued Citco?
3 A. It was a risk factor to be considered. 3 A. Idon't know.
4 Q. And did you consider it when you first q Q. Has EFG Capital International considered
5 approved the liedge fund for inclusion on the approved 5 making demand on Citco for the losses incurred by its
6 list? & customers when (he securities went out of its custody?
1 A. Yes. 7 MR. COATES: I'm going to object to the form.
8 Q. And what did you do to -- to -- well, how 8 THE WITNESS: We have not yet iniliated any
9 would you -- how would you describe -- what was the 9 legal action against different parties of the fund.
10 risk? What was Lhe risk in your mind back then? 10 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
11 A. Tthink the risk is the issue indicated in 11 Q. Have you made any demands? On Citco.
12 this report; that the size of the custodian was not (he 12 MR. COATES: Excuse me. Could you repeat --
13 same as a major intemational bank. 13 please don't answer, Repeat the question because T
14 Q. Soifthe custodian went out of business, for 14 didn't hear the question.
15 example, didn't have enough capital to -- to make good 15 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
16 on the securities it was holding? 16 Q. Have you made any demands on Citco?
17 A Tt's arisk to consider. 17 A. EFG Capital?
18 Q. And that risk was not enough to -- to persuade 18 Q. Yes.
19 EFG Capital not to put Fairfield Sentry on the approved| 19 A. Asabroker? Because that's our role in this.
20 list; correct? ' 20 No.
21 A. Apain, the custodian was Citco. 21 Q. Why not?
22 Q. Citeo -- Citco delegated all custodian efforts 22 A. The shareholder of record is EFG Bank at
23 to the person making the investment decisions; right? 23 Tairfield Sentry Limited.
24 MR. COATES: Object to the form. 24 Q. So you didn't -~ for that reason «-
25 25 A. As--as--as--
248 250
1 ‘BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 1 Q. --youthink EFG Bank should do it?
2 Q. Isthat right? 2 A. --as nominee. So that, in fact, should be an
3 A. No, Citco identified a sub-custodian that they 3 activity undertaken by the nominee shareholder of
4 were comfortable with and felt that they were reviewing 4 record.
5 the information and they thought they had elected an 5 Q. Okay. Has EFG Bank made a demand, to your
6 appropriate sub-custodian. 6 knowledpge?
7 Q. 8o you--did you feel that if Mr. Madoff 7 A. Tdon't know.
8 didn't have enough capital, then maybe Citco did? 8 Q. Did you ever -- did you ever ask auyone at
9 MR. COATES: Object to the form. 9 Fairfield why custody of the securitics was being
10 THE WITNESS: I think we were comfortable witl 10 delegated to Bernard Madoff Investment Securities?
11 Citco as a global custodian. They performed that 11 A. Yes.
12 activity for hundreds of funds globally as a 12 Q. Who did you ask?
13 custodian and as an administrator, 13 A, Jeffrey Tucker and Lourdes Barreneche.
14 BY MR LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 14 Q. When did you ask -- did you ask them both at
15 Q. Did you ever look at any financial statements 15  the same time or --
16 of Citco? 16 A. Atdifferent times. Farly oninthe
17 A. Idon'trecall. 17 relationship.
18 Q. Has -~ has BFG Capital or EFG Bank on behalf 18 Q. So you had at Teast two conversations about
19 ofits customers made demand on Citco to -- to replace 19  this topic, one with Mr. Tucker and one with Lourdes.
20  the securities that aren't there? 20 Is that sight?
21 MR. COATES: Object to the form, 21 A, Yes.
22 THE WITNESS: [ don't recall. 22 Q. Why? Why did you ask them about it?
23 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 23 A. Because it's a risk that we had identifted
24 Q. Do you know whether EFG Bank or EFG Capital| 24 ecarly on that the fund, Fairfield Sentry Limited, was
25 TIntemational has sued Citco? 25 ot -- was using a well-known, highly regarded custodial]
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1 but the custodian had delegated the activity of 1 MR. COATES: Object. Mischaracterizes his
2 sub-custody to Bemnard MadofF Securities which is not 2 prior testimony.
3 the size of a major intermational bank. 3 BY MR LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
1 Q. And what did either of them say to you about 4 Q. You may answer.
5 that topic? ) A. Citco was the custodian of the fund --
6 ‘A. They indicated that the advisor, Bemard 3 Q. Yes.
7 MadofT Securities, wanted to have privacy in its 7 A. --and Citco was the administrator of the
8  investment sirategy and felt more comfortable 8 fund. Assuch, Citco is the ullimate determinant of the
9 sub-custedizing the assets. 9 NAV. )
10 Q. What did you understand that to mean? 10 Q. Right.
11 A. They weren't willing to give third parties 11 A. And we felt comfortable with Citco playing the
12  access 1o its proprictary trading strategy. 12  roles of global custodian and administrator for the
13 THE COURT REPORTER: "Proprietary™? 13 Fairfield Sentry Fund.
14 THE WITNESS: Proprietary trading strategy. 14 Q. What was your understanding as to how Citco
15 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 15 was going to calculate the net asset value of the fund
16 Q. The third patty in this instance would be 16 ifit didn't look at the trades?
17 Citco? 17 A. 1don't know they didn't look at the trades.
18 A. Would be a -- a different custedian. 18 Q. Allright. So if it was looking at the
19 Q. Well, if Citco was the custodian, wouldn't it 19 trades, how was it that Mr. Madoff's privacy was being
20  be receiving information as to what trades were being | 20  protected as to his trading strategy?
21 made even if it didn't have physical custody? 21 A. Tdon't know.
22 A, Yes. 22 Q. So when you had these discussions wilh
23 Q. So! don't understand how privacy would be 23 Mr. Tucker and Lourdes, did you have any understandin%
24 protected in that circumstance. What did you 24 asto how it is that allowing Madoff to hold on to the
25  understand? 25 securities would protect the privacy of his trading
252 254
1 A That's the issue that I -- I recall discussing 1 strategy, how (hat would happen?
2 with them more than 10 years ago. 2 A. 1don't recall specifically what, you know,
3 Q. That Mr. Madoff did not want to disclose his 3 the exact nature of these discussions were more than 10
4 proprietary lrading strategy and so he preferred to just 4 years ago.
5 keep hold of the securilies himself? 5 Q. Was it your experience that ordinarily in a
6 A. Correct. ¢ hedge fund securities are held by a third-parly
7 Q. Was it your understanding that Citco was 7 custodian, not by the fund itself?
8 reviewing trades at all made by Mr. Madoff for Fairfteld ] A. The majority.
‘9 Sentry? 9 Q. And is it an unusual situation in which the
10 A. It was my understanding that Fairfield 10  fund itsell would hold custedy of the securities?
11 Greenwich was reviewing trades as the sponsor of the 11 MR. COATES: Object to the form.
12 fund and that Citco clearly had approved Bernard Madoff 12 THE WITNESS: 1'm not sure that the fund was
13 Securities as the sub-custodian for the fund and 13 holding custody of the securitics.
14  conducted whatever reviews it nceded to to approve them{ 14 Once aggin, you had an appointed custodian and
15 Q. Alltight. So do you have any understanding 15 the custodian identified a sub-custodian and both
16 that Citco -- or were you ever told that Citco was, when ie activities were disclosed in the offering
17 it -- for example, when it calculated net asset values 17 memorandum.
18  atthe end of the month, that it was actually looking at 18 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
19 the trades or was it just relying on information given 19 Q. Well, you have an investment manager of a fund
20 to it by Fairfield Greenwich? 20 who's holding physical custody of the securitics. Is
21 A. Tdon't recall, 21 thatright?
22 Q. Did you -~ did you -- was that a concern of 22 A. 1think the investment manager has -- was an
23 yours, that the party making the net asset value 23 entity of Fairficld Senlry, and they appointed a-- a
24 calculation at the end of the month wasn't looking at 24 discrelionary manager.
25 25 Q. Allright. Soyou have an invesiment manager

the trades?
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1 which is a Fairfield entity. [s that right? 1 BY MR LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
2 A. Ibelieve so. 2 Q  You understood that at the time?
3 Q. And the Fairficld entity as inveslment manager 3 A. What [understood is thal specific entities
4 is being paid a fee; correct? 4 performing specific dutics of the fiund were clearly
5 A, Thatis correct. 5  disclosed in the offering memoranduni,
6 Q. And that investment manager isn't actually 6 Q. Well, was it your understanding that the
7 making the investment decisions; instead, it's delegaied 7 offering memorandum disclosed (hat Mr. MadofY was making
8 thal entire authority to Bemard Madoff Investment 8 the investment decisions? Or was the disclosure thal
9 Securities. Isthat right? 9  Fairfield's entily, the investment manager, was making
10 A, Yes. 10  those decisions?
11 Q. And you also have a third-party custodian, 11 A. My understanding is thal a Fairfield entity
12  that's Citco. TIs that right? 12  was the investment manager; and as investrient manager,
13 A. That's correct. 13  tha entity had an account at Bernard Madoff Securities,
14 Q. Cilco holds physical possession of the 14 which granted discretion (o Bemard MadofF Securities.
15 securities; right? [Is that correct? 15 Q. And you believe as you sit here now that that
le A. Tunderstand that. 16 was disclosed in the offering statemient of the
17 Q. And itis paid a fec as well for holding those 17  progpecius?
18 securities supposedly; correct? 18 A. In the offering memorandum of the fund, yes.
19 A, That's correct. 19 Q. Okay. In your experience, was it unusual for
20 Q. I, too, has delegated ils entire function for 20  the investment manager of a fund to also hold physical
21 holding the securities to Bemard Madoff Investment 21 custody of Lhe securitics?
22 Securities. Isthat right? 22 M. COATES: Object to the form of the
23 MR. COATES: Object to the form. 23 question.
24 THE WITNESS: It has engaged a suitable 24 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
25 sub-custodian. 25 Q. You can answer.
256 258
1 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 1 A, The majorily separate activily, but there
2 Q. And that's Bemard -- 2 arc -- Lhere are a minority of managers who do share
3 A. Inaccordance with this process, and in this 3 custody and advisory functions.
4 case it was Bernard Madoff Securities. And the 1 Q. Okay. Can you name any?
5 activities were reviewed also by PriceWaterhouseCoopers 5 A. Not offhand, but there were 7,000 hedge funds
€ as the auditor of Fairficld Sentry Limiled, the fund. 6 in the world until a couple years ago.
1 Q. When you firsl looked at this, did you 7 Q. Can you -- can you name on¢ where the
8  understand that boih the financial decisions and the 8 invesiment manager also held custody of the securilies?
9 custody of the securities was being made by one entity, 9 A. Not oflhand.
10 that is, Bernard Madoff Investment Securities? 10 Q. Wlhen an investment manager holds custody qf
11 A. The sub-custody was done by Bernard Madoff 11  the securities, does that cause any concern In your mind
12 Securities, not the custody. 12  of any particular risks that might be related to that
13 And (he -- Bemard Madoff Securities was 13 situation? :
14 engaged as a subadviser, if you will. 14 A. The important fact is that that activity be
15 Q. SoifIunderstand -- well, let me ask what 15 disclosed and identified.
16  you understood. 16 Q. Okay. Why do you think it should be disclosed
17 Did you understand that Mr., Madofl’s company 17 and identiffied? What's the risk, in your mind?
18  was making the decisions as to what to invest and Mr. 18 MR. COATES: I'm going to object to the form
19 Madofl's company was also holding, physically, the 19 of the question.
20 securities? 20 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
21 A. That is correct. 21 Q. You can answer.
22 MR. COATES: Object -- 22 A. I think the offering memorandum discloses
23 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 23  numerous risks in investing in hedge funds, Market
24 Q. And you understood that at the time? 24 risks, trading risks -- I mean, a whole series of risks.
25 MR. COATES: Excuseme. Object to the form. 25 Q. But what is -- what is the risk of having an
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1 investment manager also hold physical custody of the 1 A. Ldon't know.
2 securities? In your mind. 2 Q. -- what -- what were they doing?
3 A. Tt would be, perhaps, safer for the investor 3 Was it your understanding that some of the
4 to have that activity segregated between an investment 4 options that were part of this split-strike conversion
5 advisor and a separate custodian; but it isn't always 5  strategy were traded over the counter and not on an
6 the case in all funds that are offered. 6 exchange?
7 Q. Ou page 266 of Exhibit 21, in the Operations 7 A. They may have been, yes.
8 section, it says that: "Madoff makes all irading 8 Q. Was that your understanding or --
9 decisions and execules all transactions for the fund.” 2 A. That was my understanding.
10 Transact- - 10 Q. How was -- how was Fairficld confinning those
11 A, I'msorcy. What section are we in? 11 trades, or testing?
12 Q. Operations, (hs first box. 12 A. [--1personally did not go and review
13 A. Okay. 13 Fairfield Greenwich's test for reasonableness at -- at
14 Q. Usays: "Madoff makes all trading decisions 14 any given point in time, but I did ask Jeffrey Tucker
15 and execules all transactions for the fund. Transaction 15 whether they were being performed. He responded
16 confims are sent directly to Citco for processing. 16  affimnatively and assured us that their risk management
17 Copies of the confirmations are sent to Fairfield where 17  of the advisor activities was good.
18 they are reviewed for reasonableness. Given the nature | 18 Q. Okay. So you didn't have an understanding as
19  and volume of the transactions, the principal test is to 19 (o how he did it, but he told you, "I'm doing it"?
20 verify that the fund's transaclions were execuled within | 20 A. Ipersonally did not.
21 the day's trading range." 21 Q. Did anyone at EFG Capilal, to your knowledge,
22 Do you see thal? 22 have specific understanding as to how this confirmation
23 A, Yes. 23 was being performed -- how Lhis review was being
249 Q. Do you have an understanding or did you atthe | 24 performed?
25  time as to what it means to "review trades for 25 A. Mark McCluskey reviewed it in the carly days
260 262
1 reasonableness"? 1 ofihe history of the fund.
2 A. This was activity being petformed by Fairfield 2 Marcelo Alvarez may have reviewed it also.
3 Greenwich as a sponsor of the fund. 3 And I'm not certain who may have reviewed it
4 Q. Did -- did you have any understanding as to 4 subsequently.
5 what they were reviewing and for what purpose or how 5 Q. Did anyone at Fairfield ever explain to you
6 often or anything -- any details about that? 6 what would happen if there was a disagreement with
7 A. My understanding is that periodically they 7 MadofT over the reasonableness of a particular day's
8 were reviewing the trade so that the price would conformy 8 trading? -
% wilh prices on the day or days that they were executed. 9 MR. COATES: Object to the form.
10  Andthat they were also reyiewing volumes so that 10 THE WITNESS: No.
11 they -~ to determine whether they were representative of [ 11 BY MR, LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
12 the volumes on those days. iz Q. Did -- did they ever tell you that they had
13 Q. Talks here about whether -- "the principal 13 found any frading that had been outside the range of
14 testis to verify that the fund's transactions were 14 reasonableness or within -- cutside the trading range
15 executed within the day's trading range." 15 fora particular day?
16 Do you know what that means, "the trading i A. Not when T questioned them, no.
17 range"? 17 Q. Was this done on a daily basis or every few
18 A. The prices, I would imagine. 18 days?
19 Q. Prices. 19 A. What was done? I'm sorry.
20 Did you ever ask Fairfield as to what would be 20 Q. The review of the confirmations to sec if the
21 an acceptable trading range? 21 trades were within the trading range.
22 A. 1think the acceptable lrading range s the 22 A. I personally don't know what frequency they --
23 ones recorded on any given exchange for that day ifthey| 23  they used for reviews.
24 were exchange-rate securilies. 24 Q. Was it important for you to know that?
25 Q. What if they were aver-the-counter -- - 25 A. It was important for me to know that they
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1 reviewed the abtivity. 1 A. Tdo not know.
2 Q. Aund were you relying on their review? 2 Q. Did you rely on EFG Bank's conflirmation of any
3 A. You rely on the sponsor of a fund for many 3 trades done by Fairfield?
4 activities: To chose a proper custodian, to chose a 4 A. No.
5  proper accountant, and to chose a proper advisor, and to 5 Q. Do you know whether they confinned any trades
6 monitor -- and to monifor the investment strafegy of the 6 donc by Fairfield or by Madolf?
7 (und. ’ 7 A. No, I'm nol aware of that. Once again, we
8 Q. Did EFG Capital ever do any particular review 8  were distributing a fund, Fairfield Sentry Limited, not
9 or analysis of Mr. MadofI's operations? 9 necessarily reviewing the aclivities of the sum's fund
10 MR. COATES: Object to the form. 10  advisor, which would be very unusual for a distributor
11 THE WITNESS: Idon't believe EFG Capitai did| 11 todo.
12 any reviews of Bemard Madoff Securilies. 12 Q. Why is that, because you rely on the fund to
13 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 13 dothat?
14 Q. Okay. Did you ever review his trading 14 A. The fund sponsor reviews its activilies in
15 strategy against the markel? 15 wholesaling a fund.
16 A. Not EFG Capital. 16 MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: Lel's go ofT the recorg
17 Q. Did anybody in the EFG family of companies, to4 17 for a second. .
18 your knowledge, perform such an analysis? 18 MR. COATES: Lel's go off the record.
19 A. They may have. 19 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Off the record. The lime
20 Q. Do you know whether they did or not? 20 is 12:38.
21 A. Ibelicve some EFG entities may have or -- 1 21 (Thereupon, a luncheon recess was taken from
22 don't know which ones specifically. 22 1238 pm.to 1112 p.m.} :
23 Q. Well, what makes you say some may have? 23 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Okay. We arc now back or
24 A. 1believe that EFG Private Bank may have, at 24 the record. The time is 1:12.
25 some point, reviewed the trading strategy on behalf of 25
264 266
1 their own due diligence. 1 DBY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
2 Q. Do you know when that happened? 2 Q. Did you ever speak to Citco about the
3 A. 1'would say the late '90s. 3 sub-custodian relationship hey had with Bemard Madof
4 Q. And do you know the scope of their review? 4 Investment Securities?
5 A. No. 5 A. Ididnot.
6 Q. Were you ever given any access to it? 6 Q. Do you know if anyone from EFG Capital ever |
7 A. No. 7 did?
8 - Q. How do youknow it occurred, someone tell you? 8 A, Idon't know.
9 MR. COATES: Well, 'l object to the form of 9 (Thereupon, the refered-to document was
190 the questions, 10 marked by the court reporter for Identification as
11 THE WITNESS: I don't recall -- recall exactly 11 Plaintiffs Exhibit 22.)
12 how I became aware of that, . 12 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
13 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 13 Q. Can we mark as Exhibit 22 something called
14 Q. Do you have a general idea how you became 14 Netice to Clients, il's Bates-tabeled EFG Capital 1066.
15 aware ofit? 15 Have you scen Exhibit 22 before?
16 A. A staff member may have informed me of that, le A. Yes, I have.
17 atthat point in time. 17 Q. Whatisit?
18 Q. And do you know what EFG Private Bank did 18 A. A Notice fo Clients regarding Fairfield Sentry
19  with -- with respect to reviewing private trading 19 Limited.
20 strategy -- 20 Q. Now, this is an unsigned and undated notice.
21 A. No. 21 Do you know whether this notice or something like it
22 Q. --or trading slrategy? 22 wenf out (o customers of EFG Capital International?
23 A. No. 23 A. Ibelieve it went out around 2- -- around year
21 Q. Do you know if they were given access to 24 2000
25 Mr. Madoff's proprietary strategy? 25 Q. How did it come about that this notice went
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1 out? 1 who -- who expressed concems after that article.
2 A. Thbelieve it came about in the -- along wilh p Q. Isthis the only time that EFG Capilal sent a
3 a--an update of the offering memorandum that we sent 3 notice regarding the custody being with Bemard Madof]
4 to our clients, and we wanted to remind them of the size 4 Investment Securities?
5 of Ihe subadvisor of -- I shouldn't -- somry. Not the 5 MR. COATES: I'm going to object to the form.
6 subadvisor, the sub-custodian being smaller than many 6 You may answer.
7 intemational banks. 7 THE WITNESS: As customers subscribed, the
8 Q. Itsayshere: "The fund's performance speaks 8 issue of custody was idenlified in the offering
9 for itself; however, we would like to highlight the fact 9 memorandumn. So it was identified by the fund
10  that the fund's assets are custodized with its 10 Sponsor.
11 investment advisor, Bemard L. Madoff Investment 11 And for a munber of years, 1 can't recall how
12 Securities, rather than with a major international bank 12 many, the customers would have also signed this
13  (directly or through a subsidiary) as is the case with 13 notice upon subscription.
14 most investment funds. Bernard L. Madoff Investment | 14 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
15 Securities had capital as of October 31, 2003, of U.S. 15 Q. Was this a notice that had to be subscribed --
16 $478 million. This is much less than the capital of a 16 signed every time there was a subscription?
17 major international bank; to that extent investing in 17 A. For a period of time,
18 the fund represents one of the risks of investing in the 18 Q. What period of lime was that?
19  fund." 19 A. Starting in approximately 2000. For a few
20 Do you seg that? 20  years.
21 A, Yes. 21 Q. How many years, approximately?
22 Q. What does it mean to say, "To that extent 22 A. Tdon'trecall -- I don't recall.
23  investing in the fund represents one of the risks of 23 Q. Whose decision was it ¢ -- 10 have customers
24  investing in the fund"? What docs that mean? 24 signone of these nolices each time they subscribed?
25 A. It means that the size of the sub-custodian 25 A, Tcan't be precise. ITthinkitwasa
268 270
1 chosen by Citco was smaller than a large international 1 colleclive decision amongst Mark McCluskey, myself, and
2 bank and as such it was smaller in size and a risk to be 2 perhaps others in the [irm.
3 considered. 3 Q. When did Mr, McCluskey leave the fim?
4 Q. After this notice went out, did -- did any 4 A. Approximately five years after 1996.
5 customers, to your knowledge, redeem their investmentsy 5 Q. 2001 or so?
6 A. They may have. 6 A. Ican't recall exaclly.
7 Q. Do you know one way or another? 7 Q. Well, was there a particular reason he lefi?
8 A. Not specifically. 8 A. Hewas commuling for New York -- from New YorK
9 Q. Do you know -- did any customers contact EFG 9 to Miami for five years and I think he got tired.
10 Capital and say, “This is a concem. We don't want to 10 Q. When did he pass away?
11  do business at this point witi Fairficld Sentry"? 11 A. . (hink a few years after that,
12 A. Ican'trécall specifically if anybody voiced 12 Q. During the entire time that BFG Capital was a
13 that specific concem. They may have reduced their 13  distributor for Fairfield Sentry Limited's fund, were
14 exposure and they may have a limited exposure or they 14  invesiors required to have a net worth in excess of a
15 may have done nothing. 15 million dollars U.S.?
16 Q. Did -- did periodically customers express 16 A. [ don't believe so.
17 concems about the Fairfield Sentry Fund to EFG Capital| 17 Q. Did that change at some point?
18 International? 18 A. It -- it may have been inserted into the
19 A. No. 12  offering memorandum at some point.
20 Q. Do you recall any particular concerns 20 Q. But was it always a requirement that a
21 expressed after those articles, for example, we 21  million-dollar net worth was necessary to -
22 discussed last time, after they came out? 22 A. No.
23 A. [fthe articles were 2001, 1--1 don't recall 23 Q. --subscribe to this fund?
24 whether we received specific phone calls, There may 24 A, Tdon't believe so.
25  have been one or two customers but not -- not many 25 Q. Did that -- did it change -- how did it
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1 change? 1 Q. In your due diligence or the company's due
2 A. That may have been in addition to the offering 2 diligence review of Fairfield Sentry, did you or the
3 memorandum at some poiat in time. 3 company come to an understanding as to what MadofTs
4 Q. I'mnot sure I understand. 4 compensation was going to be?
5 A. It may have been in addition to the offering 5 A. EFG Capilal was never involved in a
6 memorandum by the fund sponsor at some point in time 6 compensalion discussion between the fund and any of its
7 Q. Some point in time they required that the 7 providers.
"8  investors be -- have amillion-dotlar net worth? B ). So you -- you did not have an understanding of
9 A. They viewed the shareholding as EFG Bank, ong 9 what Madoff's compensation would be?
10 invesior, so EEG Bank always had the threshald, ifyou | 10 MR. COATES: Object to the form.
11 will 11 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
12 Q. Sothe technical subscriber here was EFG Bank, [ 12 Q. Tsthatright?
13 notany of EFG Capital's customers. [s that right? 13 MR. COATES: Same objection.
14 A. As--asan agent for the customer, correct. 14 THE WITNESS: I would have an understanding off
i5 Q. And so from the Fairfield Seutry's 15 what the offering memorandum may have indicated.
16 perspective, they said, We're dealing with EFG Bank; if] 16 (Thereupon, the referred-to document was
17  they have a net worlh more than a million dellars, 17 marked by the court reporter for Identification as
18 they're qualified; correct? 18 Plaintifl's Exhibit 23.)
19 A. They may have taken that position, I don't 19 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
20 know. 20 Q. Let me mark as Exhibit 23 a June 26, 2000, fax
21 Q. Well, how is that your company decide -- went 21  to you from Mr. Tucker, Bates-labeled EFG Capital 1211
22 about qualifying investors to subscribe to this fund? 22 through 1213,
23 A. That's an under -- that's an undertaking of 23 Do you recall receiving Exhibit 237
24  the registered representative, vis-a-vis each client. 24 A. No.
25 Each client is different. Some clients are professioual 25 Q. Looking at the attachment, there's a letter to
272 274
1 investors, some are not professional investors. Some 1 EFG Capital International from Mr. Tucker attached to
2 are very high net worth. Some are medium net worth. 2 the fax and it's labeled *Draft." Do you see that?
3 Some have different investment objectives. Some orders 3 A. Yes.
4 were solicited, some orders were unsolicited. 4 Q. Do you know -- do you recall why Mr. Tucker
5 Q. Well, for solicited -- would it make a 5 was sending you a draft letter addressed to your
& difference whether or not an investment was solicited in 6 company?
7 terms of the qualifications of the investor? 7 A. Nope.
8 MR. COATES: I'm going to object to the form B Q. On the second page it says, in the
9 of the question. ' 9  sccond-to-last paragraph -- no, the third-to-last
10 BY MR.LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 10 paragraph, the last sentenice, it says: "All rading
1 Q. You can answer, 11  decisions are delegated to Madoff Securitics and the
12 A. Itmay or may not, It would depend on the 12 success of our fund is dependent on their cfforts.”
13 individual investor. 13 Then it goes on to say: "Utilizing Madoff
14 Q. Interms of the net worth, was there ever a 14  Securities enables us to implement the strategy with
15 threshold net worth that EFG Capital looked to for ils 15  low-cost execution and efficiency. Our orders and
16 jnvestors in order to subscribe them in this fund? 16 execulions go through the Madoff Securities'
17 A. T'mean, I don't recall specifically if that 17  market-making system in the same manner as any otlier
1B was arequirement of this fund or not. I mean, there 18 firm that would execute through Madoff. The firm
1.9  were other funds that had $5,000 minimums, other funds| 19  charges us a bid/offer spread butno .. "
20  had a hundred thousand dollar minimuwms. I don't 20 A. I'msorry. 1lost you. You're in the
21  remember about this fund in parlicutar. 21  third -~ in the third paragraph?
22 Q. In terms of a net worth, though, was therc a 22 Q. Yes.
23 net worlh minimum that was required, a nct worth 23 A. Okay.
24 threshold that was required? 24 Q. "The fimn charges us a bid/offer spread, but
25 A. Tt--it may have. 1don't recall. 25 no conunission.”
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1 Was that your understanding, at least as of 1 The distributor looks at the [und, makes sure
2 20007 2 that the general fund providers are adequate for the
3 A, Yes 3 fund, does due diligence initially, and then reviews the
9 Q. Thal Madoiffwas not charging commissicns for 4 fund periodically.
5 (his -- providing this investment strategy; he was S Q. Did you ever consider and wonder why
6 simply executing orders like he would for anybody 6 Mr. Madoff wasw't providing the strategy through a hedge
7 executing through his firm. [s that right? 7 fund that he might propose or spansor?
8 A. Yes 8 A. No, I was -- assumed he was salis(ied with the
9 Q. And that Le was not getting any particular 9 relationship he had wilh Fairfield Greenwich.
10 consideration or compensalion for providing this secret | 10 Q. EFG Capital Assel Management also -- it
11 proprietary strategy to Faitficld Sentry; he was just 11  says-- well, stepping back here.
12  getting his trade execution fee. Is that your 12 It says: "All trades are executed through
13 understanding? 13 discretionary brokerage accounts in the name of
14 MR. COATES: I'm going to object to the form 14  Fairfield Sentry Limited . . ."
15 of the question. 15 Do you see that?
16 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 16 A. Where? The ihird paragraph again?
17 Q. Was that your understanding? 17 Q. Yes.
18 A. My understanding is (hat the fund was charging | 18 A. Yes.
19 amanagement fee and the fund identified an investment| 19 Q. QOkay. And a discretionary brokerage account
20 advisor to carry out its strategy and they negotiated 20 means an account where someone is trading lor someone
21 whatever compensation was deemed adequate by both 21  else, with full discretion to do so. Is that right?
22 parties in executing that strategy. 22 A, Yes.
23 Q. Well, as of this -- the date of this letter in 23 Q. And EFG Capital Asset Management traded for
24 June of 2000, did you think that -- that Madoff was 24 its customers in discretionary brokerage accounts, did
25  sharing in part of that 20 percent just like EFG Capital 25 itnot?
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1 wvas? 1 A. This -- this doesn't relate to EFG Capital
2 A. No. 2 Asset Managenent.
3 Q. Did you think he was just charging a 3 Q. Tunderstand. I'm asking you --
4  commission on the trade? 1 A. This relates to the [und manager and the funds
5 A. That's correct. A -- a commission -- I'm 5 account at Bernard MadofT Securities.
6  soITy. [ Q. T[understand.
7 Q. Well, strike that. 7 Did EFG Capilal Asscl Management have
8 MR. COATES: Excuse me. 8 discrelionary brokerage accounis for its customers?
9 THE WITNESS: Canl-- 9 MR. COATES: Object to Lhe form of the
10 MR. COATES: Let meobject. Object to the 10 question.
11 form of the question. 11 THE WITNESS: The brokerage, EFG Capital
12 You may answer, Sir. 12 International, did hol have any discretionary
13 BY MR.LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 13 accounls.
14 Q. Go ahead. 14 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
15 A. Nota commission. Rather a bid/offer spread { 15 Q. Did EFG--
16 but no commissions, as the letter indicates. 16 A, EFGCapital ~
17 Q. Okay. What does a bid/offer spread meanto | 17 Q. - Asset--
18 you? 18 A. -- Asset Managemenl, (he registered investment
19 A. A markup of a security. 19  advisor, has discretionary accounts. Tt didn't in the
20 Q. Did you know what the markup was? 20 year 2000. It didn't exist.
21 A. No. 21 Q. Okay. The nature of its -- the way it charges
22 Q. Did you ever ask? 22 its cuslomers is how? By commission? By RAT(phonetic
23 A. Once again, the activity between the fund 23 fee or by some other way?
24 manager and a subadvisor is not one that a distributor] 24 A As disclosed in our -- in our form, by
25 normally gets invalved in. 25 management fes.
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1 Q. And that's a percentage of the assets under 1 production or whether the purpose of this would
2 management; is that right? 2 fall within Lhe attorney-client privilege.
3 A. That is correct. 3 So why don't we move on 1o another area --
4 Q. In your experience, does a discretionary q MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: Well, let me just ask o
5  brokerage account ordinarily -- or discretionary broker 5 couple questions. Let me ask a couple queslions Lo
6 ordinarily charge (he customer based upon a management 6 flesh that out a biL.
7 fee? 7 BY MR LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
8 A, I'msure -- I'm sorry. You're -- you're 8 Q. This is addressed -- this memorandum is
9 1alking about discretionary broker or discretionary 9 addressed to Lawrence Howell?
10 asset management -- asset manager? 10 A. Yes.
11 Q. Discretionary assct manager. 11 Q. Was Mr. Monlgomery an altorney for Mr. Howell?
12 A. Thave seen discrelionary asset management 12 A What?
13  firms that charge based on incentives only rather than 13 Q. Was lie an attomey for Mr. Howell?
14 fixed fees, or a combination of both. 14 A. You mean a personal attermey?
15 Q. Have you ever seen one where all they charged 15 Q. Personal or for EFG Bank.
16 was a bid/offer spread on a trade? Other than this one? is A No.
17 A. Don't know. 17 Q. Sowas (his rendering legal advice (o EFG
18 Q. Okay. 18 Bank, this memorandum?
19 (Thereupon, the referred-to document was 19 MR. COATES: [m going to ebject.
20 marked by the court reporter for Identification as 20 [ don't want you to answer that queslion.
21 Plaintiffs Exhibit 24.) 21 It's an unfair question, improper question for a -
22  BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 22 a lay witness,
23 Q. Let me have marked as the next exhibit, 23 S0, Larry, I'm going to instruct the witness
24 Exhibit 24, which is a July -- looks like a Tuly 11 and 24 at this point not to answer any questions about
25 12 -- a summary of a meeting from July 11 and [2, 2000.] 25 Lhis document; if we can move on.
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1 It's EFG Capital Bales Numbers 905 thirough S08. 1 And under the rule, you're required to return
2 Let me ask if you have seen Exhibit 24 before, 2 it back Lo me, so | would ask that you return it
3 A. Yes, some time ago. 3 back to me prompily.
4 Q. Did you sce il at or around the time it was [} MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: Well, are you asserling
5 prepared? 5 an attorney-client privilege at (his point or just
6 A. Yes 6 investigate --
7 Q. Whatisit? 7 MR. COATES: At this point -
8 A. Itis asummary of a review conducted by Dart 8 MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: --i1?
9 Montgomery for EFG Capital of the Fairfield Sentry Fund. 9 MR. COATES: At this point I am, subject to my
10 Q. Atthat lime was Mr. Montgomery the general  « 10 investigation.
11 counsel of EFG Capital International? 11 BY MR LAWRENCEKELLOGG:
12 A. I'msorry. Ididn't hear you. 12 Q. Pulting aside this document for 4 minute.
13 Q. Atthat time was Mr, Monigomery (he general 13 Did Dart Montgomery ever provide legal advice
14  counsel of EFG Capital Intemnational? 14  to you with respect to FFG Capital Intemational with
15 A. He was either in-house counsel er head of 15  respect to Fairfield Sentry?
16 compliance, I can't recall which one. 16 A. Darl Monlgomery, as in-house counsel, provided
17 MR. COATES: I am going to -- Larry? 17 legal guidance on many issues. [can't recall which one
18 MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: Yeah, I'm listening tq 18  in panticular he may have --
19 YOu. 19 Q. Doyou have a specific recollection of you
20 MR. COATES: Iam going to instruct the 20  asking him legal advice with respect to Fairfield Sentry
21 witness not to answer any questions on this 21  or Bemard L. MadofT Invesiment Securilies?
22 document, given Mr. Montgomery's status as the 22 A. Possibly.
23 in-house counsel, 23 Q. Do you remember one way or another?
24 I want Lo look at this document in terms of 24 A. Again, he was our in-house counsel; he was
25 whether it is a-- whether it was an inadvertent 25  consulted on many issues; and, you know, he — we
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1 normally discussed legal issues on a number of funds, a 1 and we may have afso received the financial

2 number of products, and different issues for the [iem. 2 stalements of the sub-custodian at different points

3 Q. Do you recall receiving Exhibit 247 3 in (ime.

q A. Yes. 4 BY MR LAWRENCE KELLOGG:

5 Q. Did you receive it at or about the time il was 5 Q. Well, do you recall looking at Madoff

6 prepared? 6  Securilies' financial stalemenis over (he years?

? A. Yes. 1 A. Well, this is one of them, There may have

8 Q. Was Dart Montgomery responsible for cohducling 8  been more that we -- that we received,

9 any of the due diligence of Fairfield and/or Bemard 9 Q. Well, there may have been. F'm asking you
10 Madoff? 10 what you recall.

1 MR. COATES: Excuse me. Can you repeat the 11 Did you look al them over the years?

i2 question? 12 A Our responsibility was not (o look at the

13 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 13 fisaucial statements of providess to he fund. Once

14 Q. Was Dart Montgomery tasked with the -- any 14 again, we had a fund which had a global custodian; it

15 responsibility with respect to due diligence by -- by 15  had an external auditor in PriceWaterhouseCoopers; the

16  your company over Fairfield Internalional -- Fairfield 16  advisor was a member of FINRA, supervised by FINRA and

17  Seniry and/or Bernard Mado(f? 17 the SEC; and certainly that gave us added comfort in the

18 A. 1 can't recall whether he was asked 18  selection of the advisor by tie investment manager.

19 specifically to conduct any of the periodic reviews. 19 Q. So, as you sit here today, you feel even if

20 Q. Looking at Exhibit 24, does it refresh your 20 you received the financial slatements, thal was not one

21 memory as to whether he was requested to do that? 21 of the things you were going 1o be looking at with any

22 MR. COATES: Well, I'm going to -- I'm geing 22 great detail. Is (hat fair?

23 to inslruct you not to answer (hat question. That 23 MR. COATES: Object to the form of the

24 invades the attorney-client privilege. 24 question.

25 (Thereupon, the referred-to document was 25 THE WITNESS: I think I answered the question
284 286

1 marked by the court reporter for Identificalion as 1 that we looked, once again, at the fund, the

2 Plaintiff's Exhibit 25.} 2 struclure of the fund, the providers of the fund,

3 DBY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 3 and we did that periodically.

9 Q. TI'll show you Exhibit 25, which is a fax froin 4  BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG:

5 Jeffrey Tucker to Mr, Echevarria dated May 30, 1997. Do 5 Q. Was il important to you or was it not

& you recall receiving Exhibit 257 6 important to you to look at Madoff's financial

7 A. Not specifically, but it's addressed to me. 7 statements?

8 Q. Now, this attaches an annual audit -- audited 8 MR. COATES: Object to the form.

9 report of Bemard MadofT Securities with financial 9 THE WITNESS: I think the importance was to
10 statements from 1996 regarding Mr. MadofTs investment | 10 understand that the fund sponsor had chosen wisely
11  securities corpany. 11 the fund providers.

12 Do you see that? 1z BY MR.LAWRENCE KELLOGG:

13 A. Yes 13 Q. Okay. Would looking af the financials help

14 Q. Did you review this af the fime? 14  you come to a decision on that?

15 A. Ican't recall whether I personally reviewed 15 A. Tthink receiving financials that were

16 itor Mark McCluskey reviewed it, but obviously we 16 submitted to the SEC for an advisor and of a firm

17 receiveditand ... 17 regulated by FINRA and the SEC probably gave us some
18 Q. Do you recall looking at Madol financial 18 comfort. :

19 statements over the years? 19 . Did it concern you that Bemard MadofT

20 A, Tkiow we -- 20 Investment Securities was providing investment advisory
21 MR. COATES: Object to the form of the 21  advice to Fairfield Sentry but was not an approved

22 question. 22 financial advisor? Didn't have a license --

23 You may answer. 23 MR. COATES: Object -- object to the form of
24 THE WITNESS: We may have received the 24 (he question.

25 financial statements of Fairfield Sentry Limited 25
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1 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 1 accountants and auditors were a company called
2 Q. --todo that? 2 Triehling, F-R-[-E-H-L-I-N-G, & Horowitz?
3 MR. COATES: Object to the form of the 3 A. Inoticed that that’s who the firm is and that
4 question, if I -~ if that's not clear to the -« to 4 they gave an unqualified opinion.
5 the question. 5 Q. Did you know anything about that firm?
6 You may answer, sir. 6 A. Nope.
7 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 7 Q. Did you do any investigaliou of that firm at
8 Q. You may answer. 8  the lime?
9 A. Bemard Madoff Securilies had a discrelionary 9 A. Nope.
10 relationship through a brokerage account, which they're | 10 Q. Did you ever do any investigalion of the firm?
11 allowed to have under FINRA regulations. 1 A. We reviewed the aclivifies of Fairfield Sentry
12 Q. Yeah, you understood them to be a 12  Limited. Once again, that is our obligation, the fund;
13 broker-dealer, not an investment advisor. Is that 13 and reviewed the activitics that Fairfield Greenwich was
14 right? 14 doing to ensure itself that fund providers were
15 A. Thal's correct. ) 15 appropriate. And this -- this firm -- {his information
16 Q. Did you consider -- did you consider it to be 16 was provided to the SEC, which again gave us confidence
17  investment advisory advice when Mr. Madoff had full 17  that all the providers to the fund were in order.
18 discretion to (rade -- make every trade for Fairfield 18 Q. Sodid you ever investigate Mr. Madofi's
19 Sentry for 20 years? 19 auditors, Frichling & Horowitz?
20 MR. COATES: Object to the form of the 20 A. No.
21 guestion. 21 Q. Did anyone at EFG Capital International ever
22  BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 22  investigate Frichling & Horowilz, to your knowledge?
23 Q. Almost. 23 A. Not to my knowledge.
24 A. TI'msomy. Could you repeat the question? 24 Q. Did -- would you have expected that, as part
25 Q. Did you -- did you -- did you consider 25  of their management fee, that Fairfield Sentry or
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1 Mr. Madoff and his company -- 1 Fairlield, the sponsor, would be investigating that
2 A. Uh-hubh. 2 accounting finn 10 make sure that they were competent?
3 Q. -- when they were providing -- making all the 3 A. T'would expect that the fund sponsor would
4 decisions as to the trading at Fairfield, that they were 4 have reviewed the relationships of its providers.
5 providing investment advisory services that required a 5 Q. And would that include investigating or doing
6 license to do that? 6 abackground check or understanding something about
7 MR. COATES: Object to the form of the 7  Friehling & Horowitz and their capabilities?
8 question. 8 A. T--it's - sitting here it's difficult for
9 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 9 me to determine whether that was one of (he
10 Q. You can answer. 10 responsibilities of that firm or not. I mean, they -~
11 A. Tbelieve that Madoft Securities was in 11 they engaged Bernard MadofT Sccuritics, and yes, our
12 compliance with all regulatory issues regarding FINRA | 12 oxpectation is that they review the activitics of the
13 and the SEC at the time. And certainly PWC, as the 13 advisor and they had full authorily to hire and fire
14 fund's auditor, gave me comfort that they believe 14 him. So ifthey had found something that was irregular,
15 likewise, 15 they should have fired him as an advisor.
le Q. Did you rely on PriceWaterhouseCoopersto-to| 16 Q. IfFairfield Seniry's auditors had been
17 ensure that Mr. Madoff was in compliance withthe law | 17  Friehling & Horowitz, would you have done business willy
18 when he was giving investment advice to the fund? 18  the fund or would you have at least looked at the
19 MR. COATES: Object to the form. 12 background of that firm?
20 THE WITNESS: 1--Idon't have an opinion as 20 MR. COATES: Object to the form of the
21 to what Mr. Madoff may have done or not done to bej 21 question. Calls for speculation.
22 in compliance. 22 THE WITNESS: It wasn't the case, so I don't
23 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 23 know. I thought --
24 Q. When you looked at these financials or when 24 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
25  you received them, did you notice that Mr. MadofT's 25 Q. When you're looking at a fund -- you mentioned

800-726-7007

Veritext Florida Reporting Co.

305-376-8800




33 (Pages 291 to 294)
291 293
1 PriceWaterhouseCoopers -- do you look at their auditors 1 then we're going to move on.
2 A. Tthink we're comforted by the fact that 2 THE WITNESS: As 1 have said numerous times,
3 they're one of the largest auditors that are involved in 3 we looked at all of the fond primary providers, and
4 the business of auditing firns and auditing funds. 4 we looked to the fiund sponsor to do its research
5 Q. Ifthe -- if the auditors are unknown to you, 5 and its reviews of all the providers that they
6 is tha{ one of the things that you look at as part of 6 engaged in in offering the fund to distributors.
7 your due diligence of a fund? 7 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
8 A. Perhaps would have lodked. 8 Q. Have you cver rejected a fund from being put
9 Q. And if the audifor of the -- the company 9 on the approved list because you don't know who the
10 making all the investment decisions and holding all the 10 audifor is?
11 securities is unknown fo you, is that something that you 11 A. Tdon't recall.
12 think EFG Capital should have looked at? 12 Q. Have you ever rejected a fund for having a --
13 MR. COATES: Object to the form of the 13 an investment manager also hold custody of the
14 question. 14  sccurities?
15 THE WITNESS: It was the responsibility of the 15 MR. COATES: Object to form.
16 fund sponsor to look at the activities of Fairfield 16 BY MR, LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
17 Sentry providers. 17 Q. You can answer.
18 BY MR LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 18 A. Ddon't recail.
19 Q. Weli, you're look -- EFG Capital as a 19 (). Befere you had mentioned or you had made a
20 distributor -- 20 dislinction between unsolicited and solicited customers.
21 A. Uh-huh. 21 How is it that you know whether an invesiment is
22 Q. --is looking at the fund and looking at this 22 solicited or unsolicited? ‘
23 situafion with a -- with an eye towards recommending it | 23 A. Somelimes we have customers who approach us
24 {oits own cuslomers. Is that rigli? 24 directly to buy a specific security or a specific fund
25 A. Sometimes. ) 25 oraspecific product.
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1 Q. Yeah, that's the purpose you're looking for. 1 Q. And those would be unsolicited?
2 If you're going to put it on an a recommended list, it's 2 A. Those would be unsolicited.
3 going to be ultimately recommended to customers; right? 3 Q. Do you keep records of which customers are
4 MR. COATES: Excuse me. Object to the form o 4 solicited invest- -- or which investments are solicited
5 the question, 5 asopposed to unsolicited?
6 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 6 A. The registered representative would indicate
7 Q. You can answer. 7 that.
8 A, We placed the funds in our approved list which B Q. How would that be indicated, and where?
9 meant that registered reps could recommend it or they 9 ‘A. Either through notes or through CARR(phonetic})
10 could execute transactions for unsoliciled frades also. 10 Reporis or through trade tickets.
11 Q. Soifthe fund that you're looking at has an 11 Q. Was il ever a concern of yours or an issug
12 - accounting ficm that you know nothing about, as partof | 12  that you looked at -- strike that.
13 your decision to recommend it to your customers, doyou| 13 Did you ever look at the issue of who would be
14 gt least check out the accounting firm? ' 14  the counterparties on the option trades Madoff was
15 A. We're talking about a hypothetical situalion 15 making?
16 right now? Ts that -- is that the question? 16 A. Idon't--1don't recall having looked at
17 Q. No, as a-- no, I'm talking about this 17  that. ’
18 situation right here. I'm looking at an accounting firm 18 Q. Welk, did you ever look at who was the
19  you've never heard of, you're recommending it to your 19 counterparties on any of the equitics that Mr. Madoft
20  customers, did you consider looking at this firn? 20  was supposedly purchasing and selling?
21 MR. COATES: I --I'm going to object to the 21 A. Idon't recall. Once again, the sponsor of
22 form of the question. 22 the fund is the entity that would be charged with
23 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 23 reviewing those activities.
24 Q. You can answer. 24 Q. Is--is -- was EFG Capital ever interested in
25 MR. COATES: You can answer it one more time,| 25  learning the identities of counterpartics to any of the
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1 trades that Madofl was supposedly making? 1 doing your initial due diligence, or shorily afterwards,
2 A, T--1don't--Tdon'trecall. But, you 2 that -- what were the percentage of options trades that
3 know, once again, we distribute hundreds of funds. 3 were done by an exchange, over an exchange, as opposed
1 (Thercupon, the referred-to document was 4 fo over-the-counter?
5 marked by the court reporter for Identification as 5 A. Idon't know what questions Mark McCluskey ma)
6 Plaintilf's Exhibit 26.) 6 have asked Fairfield Greenwich resulting in this letter.
7 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 7 Q. This was never an issue that you addressed or
8 Q. Let me mark as Exhibit 26 an August 21, 1998, 8 were concerned about. Is that right?
9 lelier to Mr. McCluskey from Jeffrey Tucker. Ii's 9 A. Notthat I recall.
10 Bales-labeled EFG Capital 1180. You recall ever secing 10 MR. COATES: I'm going to object (o the form
11  this letter? 11 of the question.
12 A. No. Not particularly. 12 You may answer.
13 Q. Says here: "Dear Mark, Pursuant to your 13 THE WITNESS: Not ihat I recall.
14  request, for furiher information regarding Fairfield 14 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
15 Sentry Limited, please be advised as follows: Madoff 15 Q. Now, at some point, if T understand your
16  Securities is not a counter-party of any of the 16  testimony from last time, there was the -- the due
17  over-lhe-counter options purchased or sold by the fund.” 17  diligencs or monitoring of the Fairfield Seniry funds,
18 Do you see Lhat? 18 and maybe all the hedge funds at EFG Capital, was done
19 A, Yes. 19 by an outside company. Is that right?
20 Q. Does this refresh your memory as to whether 20 A. The research, fact-gathering, due diligence
21 this was ever an issue at EFG Capital; that is, is 21  informalion was outsourced to a firm called Greenwich
22 MadolY Securities on the other side of any of the 22 Associates, I believe, in early '07. And that
23 options trades? 23 information would be made available to Sixto Campano to
24 A. No, as ] indicated, Mark McCluskey went 24 conduct periodic reviews on hedge funds in an approved
25  numerous times to Fairfield Greenwich; and I'm not aware| 25  platform.
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1 of what specific discussions he may have had which 1 Q. Have you ever heard of Greenwich Altemative
2 resulted in this -- in this letter. 2 Investmenis?
3 Q. The other thing the letter says is that: "The 3 A. Doesn't mean anything in parlicular to me
4  counter-parties are a diverse group of well-capitalized 4 right now.
5 fims." Do you see that? 5 MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: Alltight. Let's go
[ A, Yes, 6 off the record for a minute.
1 Q. Was that an issue as to what was the strength 7 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: OfY the record. The time
8 of the counter-parties on Lhe options trades? 8 is 1:56.
9 A. T guess it would be good know. 9 (Thereupon, a recess was taken from 1:57 pm.
10 Q. Do you know whether EFG Capital ever leamned] 10 1o 2:05 pm.)
11 theidentity of even one counter-party te any option 11 THE VIDEQGRAPHER: All right. We're now back
12 trade? 12 on lhe record. The tinie is 2:03.
13 A. Tdon't know if Fairfield Greenwich provided 13 {Thereupon, the referred-to document was
14 that information or not. 14  marked by the court reperter for Identification as
15 Q. The third thing it says is: "The mix between 15 Plaintiff's Exhibit 27.)
16  over-the-counter and exchange-traded options can vary | 16 BY MR.LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
17 significantly. The OTC options may, at limes, represent| 17 Q. Let me show what T've marked as Exhibit 27,
18 the entire options position of ik fund, or inay 18  which is Bates-labeled EFG Capital 671, It's called
19 represent zero percent of the options. However, the 19 Hedge Fund Compliance Checklist. Can you identify
20 inlention is to nse exchange-traded options where 20  Exhibit 277
21 possible, trading out of the OTC oplions where 21 A. I--[cannot identify it.
22 feasible.” 22 Q. Tsthis an EFG checklist?
23 Do you see that? 23 A. Tcan't be cerlain.
24 A. Yes. 24 Q. So you don't know who inputted this?
25 Q. Was it an issuc at EFG Capital when you're 25 A. No.
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1 Q. Do you know what "HFN" means? 1 A. Tdon't believe we had a formal board meeting.
2 A. Where is that? . 2 Q. Okay. Board members talk about it?
3 Q. Inthe -- in the black bar at the bottom, it 3 A. Board members discussed the revelation of the
4  says "HFN Notes." 4 fraud; I'm sure we did. .
5 Do you know what that is? 5 Q. Was there a -- was there a strategy employed
6 A. No. 6 torespond? In other words, inform your customers, deal
7 Q. Did -- did the company subscribe to any 7 with the issue and so forth that was firmwide?
8 extemnat hedge fund databases at any time? 8 MR. COATES: I'm going to instruct you not to
9 A. Tdon't know. 9 answer this line of questioning to the extent that
10 Q. Do you know whether EFG ever had a form called 10 it involves coinmunications with attorneys after the
11 "Hedge Fund Compliance Checklist” or something like 11 disclosure of the Madof¥ fraud.
12  that? Some checklist where compliance -- hedge fund 12 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
13 compliance policics would be examined? 13 Q. Well, I'm not asking youn what lawyers might
14 A. Tdon't know, but I don't recognize this 14  have said to you or dido't. I'm just asking you was
15 document. 15 there a coordinated strategy among the EFG family of
16 Q. Okay. Did anyone from Fairfield ever tell you 16 companies to deal wilh their customers and deal with
17  how it is they would do an independent verification of 17 these issues?
18  the prices charged for trades by Madoff on Fairficld's 14 MR. COATES: I'm going lo object to the form
19  behalf? 19 of the queslion.
20 A. No. | 20 And if you can answer subject to Mr. Kellogg's
21 Q. Physically, how -- what a task it would be and 21 qualificalion, then please go ahead.
22  how it would be accomplished, that is, to verify the 22 THE WITNESS: We had discussions with exlemal
23 prices of the options trades or the equitics trades? 23 counse! regarding how to polentially deal with --
24 A. They -- they never specified to me how the 24 MR. COATES: Allright. Allright. Thenl
25 verifications are done, just that they were done. 25 don't want you to -- the answer is no, you're not
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1 Q. Do you know whether anyone at EFG Capilal 1 going to testify regarding those discussions.
2 verified how the price checks were accomplished? 2 If you want 1o ask it another way, I'm
3 A. No. 3 certainly --
4 Q. Do you have any understanding as to what sorl 4 MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: Yeah, you know -1
5 of resources would be required to verify prices on the 5 MR. COATES: We'll allow the witness to answer
6 trades being done by Madoff? 6 it in another way, but I -- I am concerned about
7 A. By Fairfield Greenwich? 7 the attorney-client privilege, particularly now
B Q. Yes. 8 we're post-disclosure of the Madolf fraud.
9 A. No, but they had a hundred and fifty people 9 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
10 working at the firm. 19 Q. Well, just to be clear, I'm not asking you, at
11 Q. So they had 2 hundred and fifty people working 11  the moment, what your lawyers might have advised you DIJ
12  atthe fim, but you don't know how many it would take 12 whatyou might have said to your lawyers.
13 to actually verily the prices; is that whal you're 13 Was -- was this a -- a problem for EFG Dank,
14 saying? 14 [FG International, and BFG Capital Tntemational?
13 A. No. 15 MR. COATES: I'm going to object to the form
16 Q. Okay. s of that question.
17 A. My suggestion is that they had the nanpower to 17 THE WITNESS: EFG Capital was shocked --
18 carry out verifications. 18 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
19 Q. Do you know how many persons were committed toy 19 Q. Sure.
20 that task? 20 A. -- at (he revelation of a fraud,
21 A. No. 21 How you define a problem --
22 Q. How did you find out that Madoft was a fraud? 22 Q. Okay.
23 A. The news media, I believe. 23 A, --Tguess is different from case to case.
24 Q. Did the board of EFG Capilal Holdings meet and 24 Q. Did -- did somebody at EFG Bank, Mr. Howell,
25 discuss lhis issuc once it was revealed? 25  for example, get involved with the situation right off

800-726-7007

Veritext Florida Reporting Co.

305-376-8800




36 (Pages 303 to 306)
303 305
1 thebat? 1 weni out fimwide?
2 A. Idon't know what he may have done direcily or 2 When [ say "finnwide," to all the EFG entities
3 indirectly. 3 who had customers in Madoff-related (unds.
4 Q. Did you latk to him? 4 A, Tt was sent out to customers of EFG Capilal
5 A, I'may have, 5 who may have held positions with Fairficld Sentry.
6 Q. Did EFG Capital at that lime hire counsel or 6 Q. Do youknow if any similar announcement was
7 was counscl hired by EFG Intemalional, the parent 7 sent out to customers of EFG Bank or EFG International
8 company, to deal with all these issies? 8 orany other EFG affiliated companies?
9 A. We have ongoing refationships with two law 9 A. ldon't know.
10 finns in Miami. 10 MR. COATES: And for the record, [ wanl to
11 Q. That's Morgan Lewis and Holland & Knight? 11 clear this up. This is a Porfuguese announcement.
12 A. Correct. 1z I want to make sure we're clear.
13 Q. And EFG International hired Greenberg Traurig? 13 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
14 A. Dthink they may have. I--Ican't recall 14 Q. Okay. Well, were there -- were there
15 precisely when (hey were hired. 15 announcements in other languages that were different
16 Q. Atsome poinl a communicalion was sent oul to 16 than this?
17 all of EFG Capilal's customers describing whal happened, 17 A. Would have been a similar version in English
18  Isn'i that right? 18  and in Spanish.
19 MR. COATES: Object to the form of the 19 Q. Allright. Which said essentially the same
20 question. ‘ 20  thing?
21 MR.LAWRENCE KELLOGG: The initial one. The| . 21 A. Yes.
22 one in Portuguese. [U's 1001, 22 Q. And were -- were eilher English, Spanish,
23 (Thereupon, the refermed-lo document was 23 Portuguese, or any other language announcements sent ou
24 marked by the court reporter for Identificalion as 24  to EFG-related customers of Fairficld Sentry or any
25  Plaintiff's Exhibit 28.) 25 olher MadofT feeder fund?
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1 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 1 MR, COATES: I want 1o object to the form of
2 Q. Let me mark as Exliibit 28 -- let me mark as 2 the question,
3 Exhibit 28 & December 17, 2008 -- fooks like il's an 3  BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
4 email message from Miguel Yannuzzi, attaching an 4 Q. You can answer.
5 announcement in Porluguese. 5 A. Againithe --
6 Have you seen either the email or the 6 MR. COATES: I'm sorry, you can answer,
7 announcement attached to the email before? 7 Mr. Echevarnia. ’
8 A. Ihave seen the attachment, 8 THE WITNESS: -- the notice that EFG Capital
9 Q. Okay. What was the purpose of the attachment? 9 sent out was sent oul Lo clients of EFG Capital who
10 A. To inform existing clients of the revelation 10 held positions in Fairfield Senlry Limited,
11  of the Madoff fraud. 11 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
12 Q. Was this announcement sent out to all the 12 Q. Do you know if similar or even identical
13 existing clients of EFG Capital Intemational? 13  announcemenis were sent out 1o customers of EFG Bank o]
14 A. Tcan’t recall whether it was sent out to all 14 EFG Intermational or any other EFG-related company?
15 clients or just clients who held Fairfield Sentry. 15 A. Idon'tknow.
16 Q. Okay. Was Lhere an effort 1nade to send -- 16 Q. Did anyone at EFG Bank or EFG Iniemational
17 send this announcement out to all those who held 17 approve the form of the announcement?
18 Fairfield Scntry? 14 A. Tdon'trecall.
19 A. By EFG Capital, yes. 19 Q. Had counsel already been retained by the lime
20 Q. Was the same announcement sent out to holdees | 20 this announcenient went out in December 17th?
21 ofIrongate or Fairfield Sigma or Fairficld Lambda? 21 A. We have counsel retained on an ongoing basis,
22 A. Tdon't recall, 22 two law firms in Miany, as T indicated previously.
23 Q. Who drafted the announcement? 23 (). Had counsel been retained to deal with the
24 A. Tdon't recall, 24 Madoff-Fairfield fraud?
25 Q. Did this -- was this a -- an announcement that 25 A. Specifically, T don't recall.
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1 Q. Were counsel consulted about this announcement 1 MR. COATES: Just for the record, Larry, it
2 before it went out? 2 looks to me like there are a couple -+ actually
3 You can answer "yes" or "no." 3 two -- two letters in there,
1 A. Tdon't recall specifically. 4 MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: Yeah, it looks like
5 {Thereupon, the referred-to document was 5 it's a composite.
& marked by the court reporter for Identification as 6 MR. COATES: Yes, (here's a -- there's a May
7 Plaintiff's Exhibit 29.) 7 14, '09, and then there's another one dated June
8 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 8 29, '09.
9 Q. T'm going to show what I'm going to mark as 9 MR, LAWRENCE KELLOGG: Okay.
10  Exhibit 29, which is a January 15th, 2009, 10 MR. COATES: 1don't know, If you want fo
11  announcement or cominunication to customers of EFG 11 make it one composite exhibit, that's fine.
12 Capital, consisting of four pages, EFG Capilal 1004 12 Yeah, there's actually two emails. Thal's
13 hrough 1007, 13 right. There's a -- there's the May - I'm sorry.
14 Ask you, have you seen this document before? 14 Thete's a June '09 email enclosing the May 14, and
15 A. Yes. 15 then there's a second, June 29, '09, email
16 Q. What was the purpose of sending out a o 1s enclosing a separate nolice,
17 communication about the Securities Investor Protection 17 So we can make it a composite exhibit. I just
18 Corporation? 18 want to make sure the record's clear.
19 A. EFG capital is a broker-dealer in the U.S,, 19 MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: Yeah, let's make it
20 and as such, has SIPC coverage as a brokerage firm in 20 separate exhibits. We'll mark the June 29, 2009,
21 the US. 21 email and attachment.
22 We had clients asking about the applicability 22 Let's mark that as the next exhibit numbet.
23  of SIPC coverage -~ SIPC coverage, in general, regarding 23 What is it?
24 the MadofT revelation. 24 MR. COATES: 3L
25 Q. To dale, to your knowledge, has SIPC taken a 25 MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: Thank you.
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1 position with respect (o whether EFG Capital's customers| 1 {Thereupon, the referred-lo docunient was
2 are enlitled to make a claim against the fund? 2 marked by the court reporter for Identification as
3 A. Tcan't recall specifically. 3 Plainliffs Exhibit 31.)
1 Q. Has EFG Capital made a claim against the SIPC 4 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
5 fund? 5 Q. Heres3l.
6 A. 1don't believe the firm has, 6 MR. GARCIA: What are the ranges?
7 Q. Do you know whether any customers of the firm 7 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
8  have done so? 8 Q. So 30 is going to be EFG Capital 1008 through
9 A. Ibelieve some have. 9 1018 and 31 will be 1019 through 1022. !
10 Q. Do you know who has? 10 Now, Lhe pur- — what were Lhe purposes of
11 A. I'msomy? 11  Exhibits 30 and 319 Why was it sent out? Why were they
12 Q. Do you know, dollar volume, who has? 12 sentout? '
13 A. No, no idea. 13 A, If you just give me a minute to read this.
14 {Thereupon, the referred-to document was 14 Q. Uh-huh.
15 marked by the court reporter for Identification as 15 A. T just don't -- I don't know if the documents,
16 Plaintiff's Exhibit 30.) 16  (he translations in here, comrespond to the same May
17 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 17  14th document. '
18 Q. T'll show you what I'll mark as Exhibit 30, 18 Q. Well, let's look at the tast page of Exhibil
19  which is a June 1, 2009, email to Lorrene from Miguel 19 30,
20  Yannuzzi, with an attachment. It's EFG Capital 1008 20 A, Because the - the transtations refer to
21 ilrough 10022 [sic]. 21  something - a shareholder leter dated May 8th.
22 MR. COATES: Thank you. 22 Q. Yes, what it Jooks like is that on June 1st
23 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 23 Mr. Yannuzzi sent a May 14, 2009, communication from EF(
24 Q. Have you seen this before? 24 Capitat to ils custorners; which in tum attached a
25 A. Yes. 25 Teller lo sharcholders from Fairfield Sentry Limited,
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1 which has been iranslated. 1 A. TI'mnot sure whether it was approved by myself
2 Is that what you're referring to? 2 or Sixlo, but one of the iwo of us, I'm sure, reviewed
3 A. There's a May 8th letter that's in English 3 ik
4 and Portuguese -- 4 Q. Who drafied it?
5 Q. Yes. 5 A. [ did not.
6 A. --which is different than the May [4th 6 Q. Do you know who did?
7 information and different than the June 29th notice. 7 A. [don't recall.
8 TOHERE2 8 -~ Q. Saysinthe sccond paragraph that: "As
9 Q. Looking at the last page, Bates-labeled 1018, 9 previously reported, EFG Infernational, our parent
10 it says, in the lhird paragraph, that: "EFG has taken 10 company, has retained the law firm of Greenberg Traurig]
11 fonnal steps to monitor developments regarding the 11 to assist in monitoring developments in the MadofY fraud
12 Madoff fraud in general by hiring oulside counsel, the] 12  investigation and to evaluate the possible sources of
13 intemnaticnal law firm of Greenberg Traurig, P.A., to 13 recovery of customer losses including potential legal
14 identify and track developments and provide timely 14 claims. We are now able to provide further details in
15 updates regarding MadofT." 15 thisregard."
16 Do you see that? 16 It says: "EIG International has now also
17 A, Yes. 17 engaged the law firm of Thomas Alexander & Forrester,
18 Q. Isthat true? 18 LLP, based in Venice, California, to conduct a
19 A. This is a communication issued by EFG 19 preliminary examination of potential causes of action
20 International. [ assume that what they are 20 available to EFG Internationat on behalf of its
21 communicating is correct, 21 customers against Fairfield Sentry Limited, its
22 Q. Allright. So EFG International, to your 22 managers, advisors, and/or other related entifies.”
23  knowledge, has hired Greenberg Traurig to monitor 23 Do you see that?
24 Madofl? 24 A. Yes.
25 A. This is their communication. 25 Q. Isittrue?
312 314
1 Q. Do you know when that happened, when ey were 1 A. That EFG International engaged that law finm?
2 hired? 2 Tassume so.
3 A. No. 3 Q. Did it do -- do s on behalf of its customers?
4 Q. Has Greenberg Trawrig been hired to monitor 4 A. T--if that's what it says, then [ assume so.
5  Madolf for EFG Capital International? 5 Q. Did you review this communication? Iasked
6 A. Ibelieve EFG International was hired on that & you that. I'm somy.
7 basis, and Greenberg Traurig has been engaged on a 7 A. Tdon't recall whether I reviewed it ot Sixto
8  different basis. ' B Campano reviewed it.
9 Q. Okay. So EFG Capital International has hired 9 (Thereupon, the refemred-to document was
10  Greenberg to defend this lawsuit. Comect? 10 marked by the court reporier for Identification as
i1 A. Correct. 11 Plaintiff's Exhibit 32.)
12 Q. And the parent company’s hired Greesiberg 12 BY MR. LAWRENCEKELLOGG:
13 somelime in the past to monitor Madoff generally. Is i3 Q. Let me have marked as Exhibit 32 an August 3,
14  that right? 14 2009, communication.
15 A, Yes. 15 Have you -- did you review this at the time it
16 Q. Okay. Lel's go to Exhibit 31. Thisisa 16 wentout or beforchand?
17 communication -- 17 A. Twould assume I saw it at the time.
18 A. What nunber, I'm sorry? 18 Q. Have you seen this before, you think?
19 Q. The next one, 31, right there, This is the 19 A. Atthe time.
20  June 29 communication. This is a communication from EFQ 20 Q. This discusses a meeling of Fairfleld Sentry
21 Capital, your company, lo its customers. Ts that right? 21 Limited's liquidator along with creditors; is that
22 A. Yes. 22 comect?
23 Q. Did youreview it before it went out? 23 MR. GARCIA: Form.
24 A. Iprobably saw it. 24 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
25 Q 25 Q. Is that correct?
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1 A. Letme -- let me read it -- i A. Yeah, Isawit.
2 Q. Sure, 2 Q. Okay. Is that position ihe position of EFG
3 A. 1o ascertain that, 3 Capital International, that the Anwar case provides the
4 It's a meeting with creditors and investors, 4 besl chance of recovery for EFG clients?
5 comect. 5 MR. COATES: Object to the form. It
3 Q. Tisays that counsel for EFG International 6 mischaracterizes the senlence.
7 will be in aftendance at the meeting in London 7 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
8 representing EFG Bank as nomince sharcholder in the fund 8 Q. You can answer the question.
9 on behalf of all the bank's clients wilh beneficial 9 A. Idon't know what the best position is for
10 ownership in the fund.” 10 EFG. We're going (o be guided by counsel. I'mnot an
11 Do you see that? 11 attomey, [ hiave no experience in class-action defense
12 A, Yes. 12 o liligation; and as such, I don’t know which is the
13 Q. Isthat true? Did thal happen? 13  best solution for aggrieved investors.
14 A. Yes 14 Q. Okay. FFG Capital says to ils customers here,
15 Q. And the lawyers were (here on behaif of the 15 quote, We believe that the consolidated class action
14 bank's clients wilh beneficial ownership in Fairfield 16 against Fairfield presents the best challenge to the
17 Sentry. Does that include EFG Capital Iniemnational's 17 fund and maximizes chances of recovery for EFG clients
18 customers? 18  unquote.
19 A, Yes. 19 Is that the posilion of EFG Capilal or has it
20 {Thereupon, the referred-to document was 20 changed?
21 marked by the court reporter for Identification as 21 A. Tdon'tknow. Tdon't know whether we have
22 Plaintiff's Exhibit 33.) 22 sent other nolices beyond this, or on this subject, or
23 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 23 what has transpired there.
24 Q. Tl show you what I'll be marking as Exhibit 24 Q. Earlier in this paragraph it says: Qutside
25 33, which is EFG Capital 1039 through 1053, It's 25 counsel advised that EFG, by acting alone in litigating
316 318
1 another communication that attaches an October 16, 2009, 1 against Fairfield Sentry, would undoubtedly face
2 communication to EFG Capital's cuslomers. Is that 2 numerous [inancial, procedural, and legal obstacles to
3 comect? 3 any causes of action it could commence against the fund
4 A. Yes. 4 and the likelihood of success would be materially
5 Q. Do you know who drafted this communication? 5 diminished,” unquote.
6 A. 1den't know specifically who drafted the 6 Do you see that?
7 communication. 7 A. Uh-huh, yes.
8 Q. Was the communication sent to all of EFG 8 Q. What else did outside counsel tell EFG about
9  Capital's customers who had invested in Fairficld 9 this topic?
10 Sentry?, , ' 10 MR. COATES: I'm going to object to the
11 A Yes . : ‘11 quesfion and instruct you not o answer.
12 Q. Was the communicalion aulhorized to be sent to 12 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
13 those customers by the company? 13 Q. Who is the outside counsel who was making this
14 A, Yes. 14 advice. Was it Greenberg?
15 Q. Now, this communication says that -- and I'm 15 A. Tt would appear to be Greenberg or Thomas
16  looking now at the fourth paragraph, in the last 16 Alexander.
17 senlence, says that your company believes that the 17 Q. One of those two law firms --
18 consolidated class action agatnst Fairfield - that's 18 A, Atthat--
19  the Anwar case -- presents the best challenge to the 19 Q. --orboth?
20 fund and maximizes chances of recovery for BFG clients. | 20 A. At that point in time, and 1 don't know
21 - Do you see that? 21 whether we, in fact, consulted with Morgan Lewis or
22 A. What paragraph is that? 22  Holland & Knight locally.
23 Q. This is the fourth paragraph, last sentence, 23 Q. Ttsays in the [ast paragraph on this page
24 A, And your question relaled to that is? 24 that: EFG Bank, as nominee sharcholder of your
25 Q. I--1justasked if you saw it. 25 investment in Fairfield Sentry, will act on your behall
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1 and participate in the consolidated class action and any 1 Traurig has been retained by EFG Capital or that is
2 potential class settlement in order to attempt recovery 2 action initiated by another EFG entity.
3 of losses due to the Madoff fraud. 3 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
4 Do you sce that? q Q. Do you -- have you consulted all of Greenberg
5 A. Yes. ' 5  Traurig about the class action up in New York?
6 Q. Is that true? 6 MR. COATES: Well, I want to inslruct you not
7 A. As we have been informed. 7 to answer that question.
8 Q. In the event that there's a settlement or 8 You can -- you can answer whether you've been
9 recovery of losses in lhe class action up in New York 9 consulted with the -- whether you have or not, but
10 against Fairfield Sentry, does EFG Bank or EFG Capital 10 not the substance of the conversation.
11  or EFG Intemational intend to charge that recovery fund] 11 THE WITNESS: The question was whether [ have
12 with the fees that Greenberg Traurig is charging? 12 been consulted?
13 A. Thave no idea what EFG Bank intends to do. 13 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
14 Q. How about EFG Capilal, are you intending to 14 Q. Whether you've consulted with Greenberg
15 charge any recovery with Greenberg's fecs? 15 Traurig, had discussions about the class action up in
16 A. Tdon't think it's ever been discussed. 16 New York and their representalion up there,
17 Q. Is EFG Capital paying Greenberg's fees in 17 MR. COATES: Object to the form of the
18 connection wilh prosecuting the class action on behalf 18 question.
19  of your company's customers? 19 You -- you Can answer, sir.
20 MR. COATES: I'm going lo object to the form 20 THE WITNESS: T don't recall participating in
21 of the question. 21 any discussions of the sort.
22 Could you repeat the question, please. 22  BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
23 (A portion of the record was read by the 23 Q. Who at EFG International is coordinating the
24 reporter.) 24 prosecution of the litigation up in New York, if you
25 MR. COATES: Object to the form of the 25 know?
320 322
1 question. I'll let the witness answer that 1 A. Idon't know specifically.
2 question. 2 Q. Do you know generally?
3 THE WITNESS: EFG Capital is paying for the 3 A. Thehead of -- the head general counsel for
4 legal bills rendered by the oulside counsel that we 4  EFG Intemational is Fred Link.
5 have engaged to defend us in this complaint. 5 MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: Let's go off the recor
6 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 6 for a second.
7 Q. Ckay. Butyou understand that the same 7 THE VIDEOGRAPHER; Going off the record. The
B lawyers are prosecuting a claim up in New York against 8 limg is 2:39,
9 the Fairfield defendants and others related to the Anwar 9 (Thereupon, a recess was laken from 2:39 pm
10 class action. Are you aware of that? 10 to2:55p.m)
11 MR. COATES: Object to the form of the 11 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: All right. We're now back
12 question. 12 on the record. The time is 2:53.
13 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 13 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: )
14 Q. You may answer, 14 Q. Okay. While we were off'the record we
15 A. Tamunaware ifit's the same attomeys or 15 revisited Exhibit 24 Lo which a prvilege objection and
16 different altomeys. 16 insliruction was made previously. ’
17 Q. Whatever attorneys there are, you know it's 17 We've come to an agreement that -- tell me if
18  the same firm, right, Greenberg Traurig? 18  'm wrong about Ihis -- wilh respect to Subseclion A on
19 A. Yes. 19  Exhibit 24, which would be the only potential
290 Q. Isthat same firm, Greenberg Traurig, charging 20  attomey-client communication in this document, I'm
21  your company any fees in conneclion with their 21 going to be allowed to ask questions about that so long
22 representation up in New York in that class action? 22 asldon'targue it's a waiver of the altomey-client
23 MR, COATES: I'm going to object to the form 23 privilege for Mr. Echevarria o testify about that
24 of the question. 24 section of the memorandum. And Il agres to slipulate
25 THE WITNESS: Idon't know if Greenberg 25  tothat for the reason {hat I don't think it's
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1 privileged in any way. Doesnil appear to be in the 1 that portions of this document and portions of the
2 nature of rendering legal advice, 2 due diligence analysis done by Mr. Monlgemery are
3 Is that fair? 3 privileged and portions are nof. Either it is or
4 MR COATES: Well, one qualification. I den't 4 it isn't, and T contend that it isn1. So Pm noi
5 think we talked aboul subparagraph B, which our 5 prepared to stipulate (hat it won't be a waiver if
6 posilion is that (hat is attomey-client 13 I question about Subsection A.
7 privileged. 7 MR, COATES: All right. Just so we're clear
8 MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: ©Oh, I misunderstood. 8 on the record, that | proposed that the witness be
9 MR. COATES: Idon think you made a comment 9 permitted -- will be pernitted to {estify about
10 about tha, that we're not going 1o (atk about that 10 Subparagraph A, 1 through 3, subject to one
11 now. There will be no questions about B. And 11 condition, that his testimony on (hat part would
12 that -- that that’s not the subjcct of our — of 12 not be treated as a waiver of the attomey-clicnt
13 agreement. We just talked about testimony with 13 privilege.
14 respect to Subparagraph A 14 He is prepared to testify aboul Subsection A,
15 MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: Okay. [ misunderstood| 15 which is Al, 2, and 3.
16 you then, because [ thought you were saying that 16 Subparagraph B, entitled "Documents,” we ar¢
17 you weren't asserling a privilege as to the 17 mainlaining Lhe privilege at this time.
i8 reniainder of the docurment, but you are? 18 This -- you know, again, this may be revisited
19 MR. COATES: [any, to the remaining part of 19 vis-a-vis Mr. Montgomery’s deposition, if you're
20 the document. 20 going 10 notice him? T nol sure wheither you have
21 MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: Okay. Okay. All 21 or not already.
22 right. 22 MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: We're planning to, bull
23 MR. COATES: So let me just recap, to be 23 I don't know if it's happened yet or not.
24 clear. 24 Gkay. So at this point then you're asserting
25 The wilness is — will - is prepared (o 25 a privilege as to Exhibil 24; is that correct?
324 326
1 testify about Subparagraph A, so long as 1 Attomey-client privilege?
2 Mr. Kellogg will not treat (hat testiniony as a 2 MR. COATES: No. I--Imade it clear that
3 waiver of any potential attormey-client privilege. 3 {--Tam -- I -- T will fet you testify about
q 1 belicve it is Lhe altomey-clienl privilege, but 4 Subparagraph A --
5 he will not treat that as Lhe waiver of any 5 MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG:. Okay,
6 altorney-client privilege. And be -- and the 6 MR. COATES: -- 1,2, and 3.
1 wilness is prepared to teslify as lo Subparagraph 7 MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: Okay.
8 A, . 8 MR. COATES: So long as it's not treated as a
9 MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: Allright. Let's go 9 waiver, And if you beligve it's not -- and state
10 off the record because T want Lo think about this, 10 on the record that you believe it's not the
11 I's a little different than what [ thought it was, 11 attomey-client privilege, then I'll et you
12 THE VIDEQGRAPHER: Going off the record. The 12 testify -- T'll let you -- if that's the position
13 time is 2:58. 13 Lhat you take, that Al, 2, and 3 is not
14 (Thereupon, a recess was taken from 2:58 p.m. 14 altomey-clieat privilege, thereby by definition it
15 t03:01 pm) 15 would not be a waiver. So, fine. I-- I will
16 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: We're now back on the 16 allow him, based on your representation and
17 record. The time is 3:01. 17 reliance on your representation, you may answer
18 MR. COATES: During the break -- 18 questions regarding 1, 2, and 3.
19 MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: When [ -- whenIwas] 19 MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: Okay. So lefstalk
20 off the record, I'wenl and -- I was not -- my 20 about Exhibit 24, at least as to Subsection A,
21 understanding of our stipulation was a little 21 BY MR LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
22 different. My understanding was thal they were 22 Q. What was the purpose of having
23 only asserling a privilege as to Subsection A. Now 23 Mr. Moutgomery -- or why did Mr. Montgomery prepare
24 1 understand they're asserting a privilege to the 24 this -- this report to Mr, Howell, Mr. Alvarez,
25 entire document, and 'm not prepared to stipulate 25 yourself, and Mr. McCluskey?
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1 A. Tdon't recall the specific origins of the 1 was?
2 document, but it appears lo be the notes of a meeting 2 A. Ldon't believe that in 2000 these
3 held with Jeffrey Tucker by Darl Montgomery on behalf of] 3 ransactions appeared on a electronic screen
4 the fim, 4 instantaneously.
5 Q. And what was Mr. Howell's participation in 5 Q. Okay. How did you think they were being
6 this situation? Why was he involved? 6 compared or reviewed on a realtime basis?
7 A. T'munot certain that he was involved in the 7 A. I believe that advises were issued by Bemard
8  meeting with Jeffrey Tucker. 8  Madolf Investment Securities on (he days that the trades
9 Q. He was the first recipient of this report; 9 were effected and delivered to Citco on a reallime
10 cormrect? First listed recipient. 10 basis, Ifthats a fax, if that's a courier, I don't
11 A. I'm not sure if there's any relevance to the 11  know.
12  order of Lhe recipients. He's one of the four 12 Q. Soyouwould think that the confinnations
13 recipients of the report. 13 would come there the same day?
14 Q. Okay. Was Mr. Montgomery doing his analysis 14 A. [--T--Tdon't know,
15 onbehall of EFG Capital and EFG Bank? 15 Q. Now, earlier you said that the reason that
16 A. This is a -~ an EFG Capital underiaking. 16 Citco didn't have physical custody was because
17 Q. Why was Mr. Montgomery reporting to the CEQ of| 17  Mr. Madoff didn't want Citca to know about the
18 EFG Bank about his due diligence of Fairficld Sentry and 18 proprietary trading sirategies. Is that right?
19 Madolf? 19 A. [--[belicve I testified that thal's what |
20 A. I'mnot certain what questions may have been 20 Jeflfrey Tucket or Fairfield Greenwich would have told me
21 posed to him during that time period. 21  at that time.
22 Q. Youhave no understanding why Mr. Howell was 22 Q. Now, (hat happened -- they told you that when,
23 involved in this report at all? 23 sometime earlier than 20007 '
24 A. In2000, Mr. Howell was CEQ of EFG Private 24 A. Would have been in'97, '98, '99. Inone of
25 DBank, (he parent of EFG Capilal. 25 the various meetings.
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1 Q. Did Mr. Howell receive other reports on due 1 Q. Now in 2000 you're being told that the actual
2 diligence (rom -- from EFG Capital employees? 2 confirmations are being sent on a realtime basis to
3 A. Tdon'tknow. 3 Citco. Did that raise an issue in your mind that, well,
1 Q. 1t says here, il refers in Subsection A that 4 the proprietary nature of these trades is not being
5 Mr. Montgomery had some discussions with Jeffrey Tucker, 5 protected from Citco because they're receiving on a
6 Isthat correct? 6 realtime basis confirmations of the trades?
7 A. Tt appears that way. 7 A. The proprietary nature of the trades would
] Q. 1t says in this first sentence that: - 8 have been concemrn of the investment advisor, niot
9 “Mr. Tucker stated thal confirmations of all security 9 necessarily the manager and not necessarily Citco.
10 transactions done in the fund's account are sent by the 10 -Q. "Investment advis’or," you mean Bernard Madoff?
11 fund's discrciionary investment advisor Bernard Madoff 11 A. Bernard Madoff Securities, the firm.
12  Investment Securilies on a realtime basis to bath Citco, 12 Q. Okay. Tt looks like, it says here, that
13 the fund's administrator, and the manager." 13 Bemard Madoff, investment advisor, has taken a wrilten
14 Do you see that? 14 piece of paper called a confirnnation, which has every
15 A Yes, Ido. 15 trade on il, and is actuaily giving that on a realtime
16 Q. What was your understanding of "realtime 16 basis to Citco. Is fhat what you understood was going
17  basis"? 17 on?
18 A. lhave--1 don't know what "realtime basis" 18 A. That's what this says.
19 may have -- may have meant in 2000, whether that means 19 Q. Now, that's inconsistent, isn't it, with Citco
20  an advice was senl or what. 20 not knowing about this, which is the reason that they
21 Q. Well, when you received this, did you have any 21 can't have custody, isn't it? .
22 understanding whether il was instantaneous, whether it 22 A. 1--Inever testified that they didn't know
23 was appearing on a computer screen, of whether Ihese 23 aboutit.
24 were written confirmations Lhat are senl days later, or 24 MR. COATES: 1'm going to abject to the form
25 did you have any understanding of what "realtime basis" 25 of the question.
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1 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 1 Q. Did you find that to be inconsistent with the
2 Q. You never testified that they didn't know 2 explanation that had been given to you earlier that
3 about the proprietary strategy; is that what you're 3 Citeo -- or Lthal Madoff didn't want Citco to know what
4 saying? 4 his trading sirategy was?
5 A. Never testified about (he limeliness of the 5 MR. COATES: Objecl to the form of the
6 delivery of that infortnation between Bemard Madoft 6 question.
7  Securilies and Citco. 7 BY MR LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
8 Q. I'mnot talking about the fimeliness. T just 8 Q. You can answer.
9 thought that the -- you were given comfort by the fact 9 A. don't beftieve that I said that Bemard
10  that, when you asked why is it that custody of these 10 Madoff Securilies didn't wanl Citco to know what the
11 securities is staying with Madoff and not going to 11 stralegy -- strategy was. Ithink the strategy was
12 Citco, you were comforted or you were explained that, 12  explained accuralely in the offering memorandum. I
13 well, because Madolf doesn’t want Citco o know what his] 13 think he was concerned about the timeliness of the
14  trading strategy is. 14 dissemination of whatever positions Lhe firm may have
15 A. Ldon't believe I -- 15 placed on behalf of the fund.
16 Q. And now you're being told that they do kuow 16 Q. Okay. Sothat the issue is the timeliness?
17 what the trading strategy is; they're getling it on a 17 Inother words, if Citco knows too quickly, they might
18 reallime basis. 18  be able Lo front-run those trades?
19 A. Tdon't believe that's what I said, 19 A. Idon'tknow.
20 MR. COATES: Object to the form of the 20 Q. Well, did you have an understanding aflter you
21 queslion, argumentative. 21 ftalked to one of those people about this issue as to
22 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 22  what they were -- what MadofT was really concemned about
23 Q. You can answer. 23 here?
24 A. Tdon't believe that's what 1 said. 24 A. Tdon't know which people you're talking
25 Q. Okay. Well, [ guess I'm not understanding 25  about.
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1 you 1 Q. Louise or Jeffrey Tucker.
2 Was the reason given to you by Jeffrey Tucker 2 MR. COATES: Object to the form.
3 for not -- for Cilco's not having physical custody and 3 BY MR LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
4 that the securities stay with MadofT because Madoff 4 Q. Lourdes, I'm sorry. Lourdes or Jeffrey
5 didn't want Citco to know what its proprietary trading 5  Tucker?
6 slrategy was? Was (hat the reason given? 6 A, Again, I think I indicated I can't even recall
7 MR. COATES: Object to the form of the 7 which individuals I spoke lo, much less be certain about
8 question. 8  exaclly what those discussions contained. |nean, this
9 THE WITNESS: As Irecall, the comments that 9 s, again, over a decade ago.
10 were made to me by either Jeffrey Tucker or Lourdes} 10 Q. Okay.
11 Barrencche by a representative of Fairfield 11 MR. COATES: Larry, I'm going to -- polite
12 Greenwich, I can't recall who in particular, in the 12 reminder. Wrap it up now. Certainly been more
13 late "90s, were related to the fact that the 13 than accommeodating lo go over, but you said you had
14 subadvisor, Bernard Madoff Securities, was 14 a few questions. .
15 concerned about the proprietary nature of his 15 MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: Yeah, well, then you
16 trading strategics. And il's not unusual in the 16 gave me this document so T had more than a few,
117 hedge fund world for advisors to be concemed about| 17 bul -- all right.
18 third parties becoming aware of their trading 18 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG:
19 strategies. 18 Q. Well, I guess, to sum this -~ this part up,
20 BY MR, LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 20 you didn't find this -- this statement here about
21 Q. And here you're being told that Citco is 21 realtime review by Citco to be inconsistent with what
22 getting information about every trade on a realtime 22 you've been told previously about why Citco doesn't have
23 basis directly from Bemard MadofT Investment 23  cusiody. Is that right?
24 Securities; would you agree with me? 24 A. No.
25 25 Q. Youdidn't --

A. That's what it says here.
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i MR. COATES: Object to the form of the 1 Q. Yes.
2 question. 2 A. [--1can't say specifically. A handful.
3 You can answer, Sif. : 3 Q. Were -- were some of the customers,
4 THE COURT REPORTER: He said, "No." 4 whether -- whether -- not residents of the U.S., but
5 BY MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: 5 livingin the U.S.7
6 Q. It says here that the managerdoesaP & L. 6 A. Notthat I recall.
7 analysis each day for the fund's position, That's the 1 Q. Okay. So everybody was a foreign resident, to
8 last sentence in the first paragraph. Do you see that? 8  your knowledge?
) A, Yes. 2 A. To my knowledge.
10 Q. And you take that to mean that the manager, 10 Q. Have any arbitrations been filed by any
11 Fairfield, did a profit and loss analysis each day? 11 customers regarding the Fairfield Sentry Fund against
12 A. That's what [ would understand. . 12 EFG Capital?
13 Q. Did you ever see any of those? 13 A. Yes.
14 A. No. 14 Q. How many arbilrations have been filed?
15 Q. Did you ever ask to see any of them? 15 A. Two.
le A. No. 16 Q. Who are the customers?
17 Q. Itsays here that the manager checked the 17 A. Ican'trecall the specific names.
18 confirms to see if the prices shown on the confims fall| 18 Q. Have -- has the company hired lawyers?
19  within that day's trading range. 19 A. Yes.
20 Do you see that? 20 Q. Ifso, who are they?
21 A, Isthatin-- 21 A. The answer is yes. And it's Morgan Lewis.
22 Q. That's the sentence before. Second-to-last 22 Q. Are lhese FINRA arbitrations?
23 sentence. Paragraph L. 23 A, Yes.
24 A. That's correct.- 24 Q. Have any lawsuits been filed against EFG
25 Q. Do you know how the manager was able todo | 25  Capital other than this one regarding Fairficld Sentry?
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1 that? 1 A, Not that I'm aware of,
2 A, No, but it's consistent with what the manager 2 Q. Wheo is Steve Vogel?
3 informed us over the years. 3 A. He's our senior administrative officer.
4 Q. Did -- Did Mr. Montgomery tell you how 4 Q. What is -- how long has he been the senior
5 Fairfield was checking the trading range, how it 5 administrative officer?
6 accomplished that? 6 A. Since he joined the firm.
7 A. Tfhe did, T don't recall. 7 Q. When is that?
] Q. Did he tell you what kind of due diligence 8 A, A few years ago.
¢ infrastructure Fairfield would need in order to do a job 9 Q. What -- what is his job function?
10 like that? i0 A. Responsible for administrative issues at the
11 A. ‘No. 11  firm and human resources.
12 Q. Okay. EFG Capital -- this is my few cleanup 12 Q. Atany time did he have any responsibility for
13  queslions here. 13  due diligence of the Fairfield Sentry hedge fund?
14 EFG Capital had customers that invested and 14 A. Tdon't believe so.
15 subscribed to Fairfield Sentry throughout Latin America| 15 Q. Did he have any participation in the due
16 Isthat right? 16 diligence analysis?
17 A, Yes. 17 A. 1--Idon't believe so.
18 Q. How many different countries were its 18 Q. Who is Esther Mizrachi(phonetic)?
19 customers located in? 19 A. Is a former registered representative,
20 A. Howmany different custoniers - 20 Q. When was she a registered rep?
21 Q. Countries. 21 A. When? For approximately five years.
22 A. How many -- how many different countries of 22 Q. What years?
23 customers residing -- of holding Fairfield Sentry -- 23 A. She left the firm this year. So it would be
24 Q. Yes. 24 five prior years.
25 A, —or-- 25 Q. Did shie have any customers in Fairfield
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1 Sentry? 1
2 A. Tcan'trecall specifically. 2 CERTIFICATE OF OATH OF WITNESS
3 Q. Who were the financial advisors involved in 3
4 the -- the two arbitrations that you mentioncd? 4 STATEOFFE ;(;R]DA )
5 A. The registered lative?
8 epreseiitativ 5 COUNTY OF MIAMI-DADE )
6 Q. Yes. 5
7 A, Ricardo Daugherty. 7
8 Q. TI'm sormy? 8
9 A. Ricardo Daugherty. 9 I, PATRICIA C. WEINER, Registered Professional
10 Q. Can you spell his lasl name? 10 Reporter, Registered Merit Reporter, Certified Realtime
11 A. D-A-U-G-H-E-R-T-Y. 11 Reporter, Florida Professional Reporter, Notary Public
12 Q. Is he still with the firm? 12  in and for ihe State of Florida al Large, certify that
13 A Yes hois 13  the wilness, VICTOR MANUEL ECHEVARRIA, personally
' ! ' 14 ed beft Oclober 18, 2010 and dul
14 MR. LAWRENCE KELLOGG: Okay. Thank you very appeared bRiQre me on Letober anc was duly
15 swom by me.
15 mwch. _ 16 WITNESS my hand and official scal this 20th
16 MR. COATES: We will read. 17 dayof Oclober, 2010.
17 THE VIDEQGRAPHER: Going off the record. The 18
18 fime is 3:21. 19
19 (Thereupon, Use taking of the deposilion was 20
20  concluded at 3:21 p.m.) PATRICIA C. WEINER, RPR, CRE, RMR, FPR
21 21 Notary Public, State of Florida at Large
22 My Cownmission Expires 10/12/11
22 My Commission No. DD690056
23
23
24 24
25 25
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1 RE; FERRERA VS EFG 1 REPORTER'S DEPOSITION CERTIFICATE
DEPQO OF: VICTOR MANUBL ECHEVARRIA 2
2 : - .
3 TAKEN: October 18,2010 3 T, PATRICIA C. WEINER, Registered Professional
1 4 Reporter, Registered Merit Reporter, Certified Reallime
5 EXCEPT FOR ANY CORRECTIONS 5 Reporter, Florida Professional Reporter, certify that |
MADE ON THE ERRATA SHEL?ET BY & was authorized to and did stenographically report the
3 ME, 1 CERTIFY THIS IS A TR .. .
7 3
AND ACCURATE TRANSCRIPT deposition of VICTOR MANUEL ECI.-[EVARRIA, the witnes
7 FURTEHER DEPOMENT SAYETH NOT. 8  herein on October 18, 2010; that a review of the
8 9 lranscript was requested; that the foregoing pages
10 mnumbered from 166 (o 339, inclusive, is a true and
13 WCTQR UEL E, CHEVARRIA 11 complete record of my stenographic notes of the
11 12 deposition by said wilness; and tha this computer-aided
STATEOFFLORIDA ) 13 transcript was prepared under my supervision.
1z 14 1 further certify that T am nol a relalive,
13 Z:CS):INTY oF DADE) 15 employee, atiothey, or counsel of any of the parli_cs,l
14 Sworn arxl subscribed 1o before me this 16 npor am [ a relative or employee of any of the parlies
15 dayof 2010. 17 altorney or counscl connected wilh the action, nor am I
16 PERSONALLY ENOWN ORLD, 18 financially interested in the action.
i; 19 DATED this 20th day of Ocleber, 2010.
Nolary Public in and for the 20
19 State of Florida at Large. 21
20 PATRICIA C. WEINER, RPR, CRR, RMR, FPR
21 My Commission Expires; 22
22
21 23
24 24
25 25
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ERRATA SHEET
RE: FERREIRA VS EFG
DEPQ OF: VICTOR MANUEL ECHEVARRIA
TAKEN: October 1§, 2010
REPORTER: PATRICIA C. WEINER, RPR, CRR, RMR, FPR

DO NOT WRITE ON TRANSCRIPT, ENTER ANY CHANGES HERE
PAGE #|LINE # | CHANGE | REASON
| ]

|
]
]
]
]
|
|
i
J
|
|
J

J
State of Florida
County of Miami-Dade

Under penalies of perjury, I declare that T
have read my deposition transcripl, and 1L 1s true and
correct subject Lo any changes in form or substance
entered here.
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VERITEXT FLORIDA REPORTING CO.
1% West Flagler Streed, Suite 1020
Miami, FL. 33130
Phone: 305.376.8800

Oclober 20th, 2010

Vitlor Manu:l Echevamia

/o Joseph C. Coates, I, Esq.

777 South Flagler Drive, Third Floor East
West Palm Beach, Florida 333401

RE: Fencira vs EFG

DEPQ OF:; VICTOR MANUEL ECHEVARRIA

TAKEN: Octaber 18, 2010 ’

READ & SIGN BY: 30 days

Dear Victor Manuel Echevarmia:

This letleris lo advise you that the transcript of the

deposition listed above is completed and is awaiting

reading and signing.

Please amange to slop by our office in Suite 1020, 19

West Flagler Street, Miami, Florida, to read and sign

the Iranserpl. Our office hours are from 8:00 am. to
p-m Monday through Friday. Depending on the

lengih of the transeript, you should allow yoursell’

sufficient time.

If the reading and signing has not been completed prior
to the referenced dale, we shall conclude that you have
waived the reading and signing of the deposition
transcripl. Your prompt allention to this matter is
appreciated.

Thank you,

Very truly yours,

PATRICIA C. WEINER, RPR, CRE, RMR,_ FPR
cc: LAWRENCE A KELLOGG, ESQ
MICHAEL E. GARCIA, ESQ.
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VERITEXT FLORIDA REPORTING CO.
19 West Flagler Street, Suite 1020
Miami, FL. 33130
Phone: 305.376.8800

Lawrence A, Kellogg, ESQ.

LEVINE, KELLOGG, LEHMAN, SCHNEIDER & GROSSMAN, LLP
34dth Floor, Miami Center

201 South Biscayne Boulevard

Miami, Florida 33131

RE: Ferreira vs EFG
DEPO OF: VICTOR MANUEL ECHEVARRIA
DATE TAKEN: October 18, 2010

READ & SIGN BY: 30 days

Dear Counsel:

The original transcript of the deposition listed above
is enclosed for your file. The witness

did not waive reading and signing and has been

sent a letter notifying them to come in and read

and sign their deposition transcript.

The witness will be provided a copy of their
. deposition transcript for reading in our office
should they come in to review the transcript, and
we will forward to you any corrections made by
the witness at that time, atong with an original
signature page which should be attached to the
original transcript which is in your possession.

Sincerely,

PATRICIA C. WEINER, RPR, RMR, CRR, FFR
VERITEXT/FLORIDA REPORTING CO.
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